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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is a retailer which sells cosmetics products and ladies
fashion through our retail network consisting of 105 points of sale
in Hong Kong and Macau, to provide quality and value for money
cosmetics products and fashion apparel and accessories to a wide range
of consumers at cosmetics stores, namely Colourmix and MORIMOR,
and ladies fashion stores, namely Veeko and Wanko, respectively.

Business Review

During the year ended 31st March, 2025 (the “Year”), the Group
recorded revenue of HK$481,484,000 (2024: HK$586,710,000),
representing a decrease of 17.9% as compared to the same period
last year. Hong Kong economy continued to face grave challenges.
The decrease in revenue was driven by the decrease in the number of
stores of the Group during the Year, continued northbound spending
and overseas travel by Hong Kong residents and reduced consumption
from tourists. The Group recorded a gross profit of HK$221,168,000
for the Year, representing a decrease of 14.7% as compared with
HK$259,321,000 for the same period last year, whereas the overall
gross profit margins increased by 1.7 percentage points to 45.9% for
the Year from 44.2% for the previous year. The gross profit margin
of cosmetics segment increased in the Year when compared with that
of the previous year, while the gross profit margin of fashion segment
remained at the same level.

During the Year, the Group recorded a loss after tax of
HK$124,767,000 (2024: a loss after tax of HK$40,043,000). During
the Year, the fair value of investment properties of the Group declined
by HK$40,918,000, compared to an increase of HK$5,324,000 for the
previous year. In addition, due to persistently high bank interest rates,
finance costs increased by HK$4,976,000 from HK$34,805,000 in the
previous year to HK$39,781,000 in the Year.
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Business Review (Continued)

Cosmetics Business

As at 31st March, 2025, the Group had a total of 53 cosmetics stores
(31st March, 2024: 57), namely Colourmix and MORIMOR, with 49
located in Hong Kong and 4 in Macau. The cosmetics business of the
Group recorded revenue of HK$350,815,000 (2024: HK$426,537,000),
representing a decrease of 17.8% as compared to the same period
last year. The cosmetics business recorded a segment loss of
HK$32,612,000 (2024: loss of HK$19,467,000). During the Year,
the continued trend of northbound consumption as well as overseas
travels by Hong Kong residents led to a continued sluggishness in the
retail environment, the Group have adjusted its sales and marketing
strategies in response to market conditions, and closed certain
underperforming stores, resulting into a decrease in the revenue of the
cosmetics business over the previous year, whereas the gross profit
margin increased slightly.
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Business Review (Continued)

Fashion Business

As at 31st March, 2025, the Group had a total of 52 ladies fashion
stores (31st March, 2024: 60), namely Veeko and Wanko, with 49
located in Hong Kong and 3 in Macau. The revenue of the Group’s
fashion business was HK$130,669,000 (2024: HK$160,173,000),
representing a decrease of 18.4% as compared to the same period last
year. The fashion business recorded a segment loss of HK$25,297,000
(2024: loss of HK$3,618,000). During the Year, the revenue of the
fashion business has dropped due to the increase in the number of
stores, while the gross profit margin remained at the same level.
As the production resources of the Group’s fashion business were
concentrated in its self-owned plant in Mainland China, we were
able to control costs with flexibility. In face of challenging operating
environments, the Group arranged production flexibly, as a bid to
reduce inventory level, production costs and expenses.
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Prospect

In view of those factors such as Hong Kong residents' continued
northbound consumption and overseas travels as well as the reduced
consumption from tourists, it is expected that the Hong Kong retail
market will continue to face a challenging environment in the coming
year. Despite the sluggish retail environment, management has taken
a number of swift countermeasures to proactively restore profitability
and remains cautiously optimistic about the long-term prospects.
Through the implementation of a series of sales and marketing
strategies, the Group’s sales performance has improved. From April to
mid June 2025, the same-store sales of the fashion business recorded a
single-digit year-on-year growth, while the gross profit margin of the
cosmetics business increased as compared with the same period in the
Previous Year.

At the same time, the Group will continue to negotiate reasonable
rents with landlords to reduce rental costs, close those stores whose
leases have expired but have not achieved operational efficiency, and
strategically adjust and optimize its retail network. In the financial
year ending 31st March, 2026, the Group has 58 stores whose leases
have expired or will expire, accounting for 56% of all store leases. In
the current weak retail leasing market, the Group believes that it will
have stronger bargaining power to negotiate better rental terms for the
Group.

The Group will strive to continuously optimise the product
combination of cosmetics and fashion, enhance the attractiveness
of its products and provide customers with quality products and
sales services, with a view to boosting its overall revenue and gross
profit margin. For the cosmetics business, apart from physical retail
stores, the Group will also continue to collaborate with renowned
e-commerce platforms, such as Tmall Global, JD.com and Douyin
Shop, committing to both online and offline businesses to enhance
brand awareness and expand its customer base. In addition, the
Group has launched a new mobile application at the end of May this
year to enhance the integration of its online and offline business,
providing consumers with a more comprehensive and quality shopping
experience.
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The Group is primarily engaged in cosmetics and fashion retail
businesses, and also holds investment properties and self-occupied
properties. The properties were valued at HK$698,646,000 as at 31st
March, 2025, based on the valuations conducted by independent
qualified professional valuers Jones Lang LaSalle Limited and Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Valuation &Advisory Limited, as financial
support to the Group. As at 31st March, 2025, unpledged properties
of the Group were valued at approximately HK$101,484,000, which
are available as securities for the Group to obtain new banking
facilities when necessary. As at 31st March, 2025, the Group’s total
bank borrowings were HK$178,095,000. The low level of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate in recent months has helped the Group reduce
its interest expenses. Besides, with the purpose of repaying loans under
the Group’s banking facilities in order to reduce interest expenses in
the future and to provide working capital conduct in the normal course
of business, the executive directors of the Company have provided
financial support with revolving loan facilities up to HK$375,000,000
to the Group without asset pledged, which also reflects their confidence
and support for the Group’s future. The Group will continue to

prudently manage its financial and cash position.

Despite all challenges ahead, the Group will continue focusing on
its cosmetics and fashion retail businesses, and initiated numerous
countermeasures, including but not limited to continuing to negotiate
reasonable rents with landlords, strategically adjusting and optimising
its retail network, implementing targeted sales and marketing
strategies in a timely manner, and refining the product mix to enhance
the attractiveness of our products and improve sales performance.
Meanwhile, we will strictly control the costs and expenses, aiming
at achieving a return to growth in the results of the two core retail
segments, achieving breakeven for the Group as soon as possible and

getting back on an upward trajectory.

The Group’s properties located in Hong Kong and Mainland China
including investment properties, leasehold land and buildings and
leasehold land outside Hong Kong. The valuation of such properties as
at 31st March, 2025 in aggregate amounted to HK$698,646,000 (31st
March, 2024: HK$742,583,000).



VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Chairman’s Statement =fE &S

R2025F3A310 - REVEIREEMBEARR KRR FE
B3/ 513,552,000/ 7T (20243 A31 8 : 552,651,000/
7T °

REEE TYERKATR R EHIRRIRE B ISR
& BIER2025F3 A31 A BREE A11,651,0007%8 7t (2024
F3H31H : 12,766,000 7T ) HEE -3t REF - KR
202543 A31 B BRHEE £2,098,0007% 7T (202443 31 8
2,362,000 70 ) MU BB IFINMAE L1 o KR2025F3 318 -
ZEYEN N FBE 185,094,000 7T (202443 318 -
189,932,0007 7T) °

RBEESRMBEER

RARERR  AEBMZRERBTER(EERB LR
AR MIEFE RS B A13,126,00058 7T (2024 F 3 A 31
B : 8,537,000 7T ) & 13,070,0007% 7t (202443 A31 8 :
2,231,000/ 87C) - REEBRTEE(ZZABT) RWE
EEZWME R B A 178,095,000 7% T (2024 F3 31 8 -
390,454,000 7 7T ) 5 369,100,000 7T (20243 A31 H :
37,450,000/ 7T) °

RARRERR - AEBE 2R K 50.60(2024F 3 A31
B :029) MBELRE225(20249F3A318 :1.92) ° Jh
EAREEIRITIE E 4 %178,095,0007%8 70 (2024F3 A31 8 -
390,454,0007 7T ) bA F 48 4£2579,277,0007% 7T (2024 53 A 31
H : 203,321,000/ 7C) 5t & o

M2025F3 A31 8 © AEE 2 RITEE A241,767,0005% 7T
(202453 A318 : 440,950,00087C) * EFANEEESHH 2
FE 4 58 4180,625,00058 7T (202443 A31 8 : 394,967,000
IL) °

ERARBERREREREZFBCON [ERERAEST]
A TRE PR TR

Annual Report 2025

Properties(Continued)

The investment properties were stated at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position, amounted to HK$513,552,000 as at
31st March, 2025 (31st March, 2024: HK$552,651,000).

Certain of the Group’s properties were stated at cost less depreciation
in the consolidated statement of financial position, including leasehold
land and buildings with carrying amount of HK$11,651,000 as at 31st
March, 2025 (31st March, 2024: HK$12,766,000) and leasehold land
outside Hong Kong with carrying amount of HK$2,098,000 at 31st
March, 2025 (31st March, 2024: HK$2,362,000). The fair value of such
properties as at 31st March, 2025 was HK$185,094,000 (31st March,
2024: HK$189,932,000).

Liquidity & Financial Resources

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and bank balances
(mainly in Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi) and pledged deposits,
amounted to HK$13,126,000 (31st March, 2024: HK$8,537,000) and
HK$13,070,000 (31st March, 2024: HK$2,231,000), respectively.
The outstanding bank borrowings (mainly in Hong Kong Dollar) and
loans from two directors amounted to HK$178,095,000 (31st March,
2024: HK$390,454,000) and HK$369,100,000 (31st March, 2024:
37,450,000), respectively.

At the end of the reporting period, the current ratio was 0.60 (31st
March, 2024: 0.29) and the gearing ratio of the Group was 2.25
(31st March, 2024: 1.92) which was calculated based on the Group’s
total bank borrowings of HK$178,095,000 (31st March, 2024:
HK$390,454,000) and the total equity of HK$79,277,000 (31st March,
2024: HK$203,321,000).

At 31st March, 2025, the Group had banking facilities amounting to
HK$241,767,000 (31st March, 2024: HK$440,950,000), of which
HK$180,625,000 (31st March, 2024: HK$394,967,000) was utilised by
the Group.

For the details of the cashflow management of the Group, please
refer to the “Prospect” of the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
section.
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Foreign Exchange Exposure

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency purchases
(mainly in United States Dollar, Euro, Swiss Franc and Japanese Yen),
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. Approximately 29%
(2024: 30%) of purchases costs are in foreign currencies for the year.
The management closely monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency risk by entering into
forward contracts should the need arises.

Pledge of Assets

At the end of the reporting period, the amount of assets pledged by the
Group to certain banks to secure general banking facilities granted to
the Group was HK$473,006,000 (31st March, 2024: HK$570,010,000).

Contingent Liabilities

At 31st March, 2025, the Group had provided guarantees of
HK$252,600,000 (31st March, 2024: HK$838,857,000) to certain
banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

Staff & Remuneration Policies

At 31st March, 2025, the Group had approximately 850 employees
(31st March, 2024: approximately 870). The Group mainly determines
staff remuneration (including insurance and medical benefits) in
accordance with the industry’s practices. The Group also implemented
a reward scheme for its staff based on their individual performance. In
addition to their basic remuneration and welfare, some key employees
were granted share options as reward and incentive to enhance their
loyalty to the Group.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to
all the employees for their devotion, contribution and diligence and
my deepest gratitude to all the shareholders, customers, suppliers and
business partners for their continuous support.

Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27th June, 2025
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Annual Report 2025

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st March,
2025.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Business Review

Review and Performance of the Year and Principal Risks and

Uncertainties

A review of the business of the Group during the year and its future
development, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial
key performance indicators and a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group are provided in the “Chairman’s
Statement” section on pages 5 to 11 of this annual report, which
constitute part of this directors’ report. The financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are shown in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Company is committed to the sustainable development of the
environment and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopted effective environmental policies to ensure its projects meet the
required standards and ethics.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) and management are aware, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and operations of
the Group.
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Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company recognises that our employees, customers and suppliers
and business associates are key stakeholders to the Company’s success.
We strive to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging our
employees, providing quality products and services to our customers,
collaborating with business partners (including suppliers and
contractors) to deliver quality sustainable products and services and
supporting our community.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2025 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 62 of the annual report.

No interim dividend was declared for the year. The Board has decided
not to declare a final dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2025.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to its shareholders as at 31st March, 2025 amounted to
HK$53,490,000 (2024: HK$104,947,000), comprise of share premium
amounting to HK$211,064,000 (2024: HK$211,064,000), contributed
surplus amounting to HK$53,135,000 (2024: HK$53,135,000) and
net of accumulated losses amounting to HK$210,709,000 (2024:
HK$159,252,000).
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny (Chairman)
Ms. LAM Yuk Sum (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive director

Mr. LAM Man Tin

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong

Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty

Ms. LAU Sze Tung (appointed on 15th December, 2024)
Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay (resigned on 15th December, 2024)

In accordance with article 108 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and Mr. Lam Man Tin
shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company (“AGM”). In addition Ms. Lau Sze Tung who has been
appointed by the Board on 15th December, 2024 shall hold office only
until the first AGM after her appointment in accordance with article
112 of the Company’s Articles of Association. All of the above retiring
directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years which should be renewable
for each term of three years until terminated by either party by three
months’ prior written notice. The non-executive director and each of
the independent non-executive directors has signed an appointment
letter with the Company for a term of two years.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors being proposed for re-
election at the AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

During the year and up to the date of this directors’ report, a
permitted indemnity provision (as defined under section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622 of Laws of Hong Kong (“Companies
Ordinance”)), for the benefit of the directors of the Company has been
and is still in force.

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Executive directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny (former name: Cheng Tsang Man),
aged 68, is the chairman of the Group. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the remuneration committee
of the Board. He established the Group in 1984 and is responsible for
the overall strategic planning and formulation of corporate policies
of the Group. Mr. Cheng has over 41 years of experience in the
manufacturing and retail business. Mr. Cheng was awarded the Young
Industrialist Awards of Hongkong in November 2001 and the Ernst &
Young Entrepreneur Award of the Year 2012 China in November 2012.
He is the husband of Ms. Lam Yuk Sum.

Ms. LAM Yuk Sum, aged 65, is the chief executive officer of the
Group and a member of each of the remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Board. She is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Group, specifically the merchandising
management and design and product development. She joined the
Group in 1987 and has over 38 years of experience in fashion design
and retail business. She is the wife of Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny.
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Non-executive director

Mr. LAM Man Tin, aged 66, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 2nd February, 2016 and re-designated
as a non-executive director with effect from 13th July, 2018. He was
a member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Board from 2nd February, 2016
to 12th July, 2018. He graduated from the University of Hull with a
master degree in strategic marketing (distance learning) in July 1996.
Mr. Lam joined Aeon Stores Co., Ltd. in 1992 and has over 30 years
of experience in retail and service industries. He was an executive
director of Aeon Stores (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (“Aeon Stores
HK”), a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 984) from
May 1999 to May 2012. Mr. Lam served as the managing director
of Aeon Stores HK from May 2006 to May 2012. Following his
resignation from the board of directors of Aeon Stores HK, he was
engaged as a consultant of Aeon Stores HK until September 2012. Mr.
Lam was an independent non-executive director, a member of each of
the audit committee and the remuneration committee and the chairman
of the nomination committee of S. Culture International Holdings
Limited (currently known as TATA Health International Holdings
Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1255) from May 2013 to July 2017. He has been the chief
executive officer strategist of Shirble Department Store Holdings
(China) Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 312) from September 2013 to July 2020. He
is also the founding member of the Hong Kong Yau Yat Chuen Lions
Club.
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Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong, aged 76, has been as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 13th July, 2018. He
is also a member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Board. He has
obtained extensive experience in property leasing industry since
1970. From March 1970 to December 2004, Mr. Au-Yeung worked at
Sun Hung Kai Real Estate Agency Limited and his last position was
general manager at the leasing department. Mr. Au-Yeung worked at
The Link Management Limited from December 2004 to October 2008
and his last position was head of project leasing at the project leasing
department. Mr. Au-Yeung was an independent non-executive director,
the chairman of the nomination committee, a member of each of the
remuneration committee and the audit committee of EJE (Hong Kong)
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Jia Meng Holdings Limited),
a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8101) (which was delisted in December 2022),
from August 2015 to April 2016.

Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty, aged 78, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 26th September, 2019.
He is also a member of each of the audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Board. Mr. Cheng
has extensive experience in trading, sale and manufacturing of toy
products. He has been engaged in relevant business since 1968.
Mr. Cheng worked at various companies, including Nasta (Hong
Kong) Limited, that were principally engaged in trading, sale and
manufacturing of toy products between 1968 and 2012.

Ms. LAU Sze Tung, aged 34, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 15th December, 2024. She is also the
chairlady of each of the audit committee and remuneration committee
and a member of the nomination committee of the Board. Ms. Lau
obtained a Bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accounting
and Finance from The University of Hong Kong in 2012 and has
been a certified public accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 2017. She has seven years of
auditing experience when she worked at the assurance department of
BDO Limited between 2012 and 2019; and six years of managerial

experience in multinational corporations since 2019.
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Mr. KWONG Chun Ming, Alex, aged 46, is the chief financial officer
of the Group. He joined the Group in September 2021. Mr. Kwong
holds a Bachelor degree of Arts in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has over 20 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwong
worked as chief financial officer and company secretary of Gain
Plus Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (currently known as Hong Kong ZCloud Technology
Construction Limited, stock code: 9900) from May 2017 to September
2021. Besides, he worked in international accounting firms for thirteen
years.

Ms. CHOW Man Yee, aged 48, is the company secretary of the
Company. Ms. Chow holds a Bachelor degree of Social Sciences
from The University of Hong Kong and a Master degree of Science
in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance from City
University of Hong Kong. She is an associate member of each of
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. She has joined the Group
since 2001 and has over 20 years of experience in corporate governance
and administration.

Save as the share option schemes set out below, during the year ended
31st March, 2025, the Company did not have newly entered or existing
equity-linked agreements.

2013 Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the AGM of the Company held on 30th August, 2013, the
Company approved and adopted a share option scheme (“2013 Share
Option Scheme”). The 2013 Share Option Scheme expired on 30th
August, 2023, being the 10th anniversary of its adoption date.

Upon expiry of the 2013 Share Option Scheme, no further option can
be granted thereunder, but the provisions of the 2013 Share Option
Scheme shall remain in force and effect to the extent necessary to
give effect to the exercise of any options granted thereunder prior to
its expiry which remain outstanding, and the exercise of such options
shall be subject to and in accordance with the terms on which they
were granted, the provisions of the 2013 Share Option Scheme and
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). Please refer to the 2023 Annual Report of the
Company for details of the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

Particulars of the 2013 Share Option Scheme adopted by the Group are
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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2141 A9
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G
Vesting period

MIFIAYEE
202417288

29th January, 2021 to
28th January, 2024

AMUF1RVEE
2026%1 7288

29th January, 2021 to
28th January, 2026

ANFIRI6EE
2005528158

16th February, 2022 to
15th February, 2025

ANFIR16AE
2007F2A158

16th February, 2022 to
15th February, 2027

2023F fEfR1EET &)

it )
Exercise period

NU4F1AWAE
202651 28R

29th January, 2024 to
28th January, 2026

2026F19EZE
208F 17285

29th January, 2026 to
28th January, 2028

2025F2816HE
20071528158

16th February, 2025 to
15th February, 2027

N27%F2816HE
209F2815H

16th February, 2027 to
15th February, 2029

No options were granted to the directors or substantial shareholders
of the Company during the year or outstanding under the 2013 Share
Option Scheme.

The following table discloses details of options held by employees of
the Group and movements in such holdings pursuant to the 2013 Share

Option Scheme during the year ended 31st March, 2025:

R0 REER REER REER REER R202sE

BRITEE 4818 Ril fife i %% 3A31R

Exercise k3 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed BR{TEE

price Balance during during during during  Outstanding

per share at 1.4.2024 the year the year the year theyear  at 31.3.2025

0.0334%7t 16,800,000 - - (350,000 (1,900,000) 14,550,000
HK$0.0534

0,053 16,450,000 - - - (1,900,000) 14,550,000
HK$0.0534

0.030677 3,150,000 - - -
HK$0.0506

(1,400,000) 3,750,000

0.03067%7 3,150,000 = - -
HK$0.0506

(1,400,000) 3,750,000

43,550,000 -

(350,000) (6,600,000 36,600,000

The total number of shares available for issue under the 2013 Share
Option Scheme is 36,600,000, represent approximately 1.5% of the
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at the date
of this report.

2023 Share Option Scheme

BRIBFEARRNR2023F9A1INBRTHBREBAFAS » AQ
AIEHLE RIRA — B2 B IRE R 2 (12023 F 88 A #E &1
2l]) - HZE2025%3 8318 - 2023 F BT 215 T B U
B AESFZSMEA -

Pursuant to the AGM of the Company held on 11th September, 2023,
the Company approved and adopted a new share option scheme (“2023
Share Option Scheme”). The remaining life of the 2023 Share Option
Scheme is around eight years and five months as at 31st March, 2025.

REBERAN2023 F BEIRBE AT 8l 2 S BN AR & B R M Particulars of the 2023 Share Option Scheme adopted by the Group are
727 ° set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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No options were granted during the year or outstanding under the 2023
Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares available for issue under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme is 251,800,133, represent approximately 10% of the
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at the date
of this report.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme mandate
as at Ist April, 2024 and 31st March, 2025 was 251,800,133 and
251,800,133 respectively.

Further details of the share option schemes are disclosed in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31st March, 2025, the interests of the directors and the chief
executive officer in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were
as follows:

AQRE BT

BB RT RAEB D

54, EattE LERHE Percentage of the
Capacity/ Number of issued issued share capital

Nature of interest

B A REFEREA
Founder and
Beneficiary of Trust

BEmfEAA

Beneficial owner

EREEmA
Beneficiary of Trust

ESEAA

Beneficial owner

Note:

ordinary shares held
1,393,347,737

(BfzE)

(Note)

185,219,227

1,578,566,964

of the Company

62.69%

1,393,347,737
(Ktat)
(Note)

272,916,013

1,666,263,750

66.17%

These 1,393,347,737 shares are beneficially owned by Silver

Crown Profits Limited (“Silver Crown”). The shares in Silver
Crown are in turn held by the trustee of The J Cheng Family Trust,
a discretionary trust, the discretionary objects of which include
family members of Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and Ms. Lam

Yuk Sum.
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Other than disclosed above and certain nominee shares in subsidiaries
held by certain directors in trust for the Group, none of the directors
and the chief executive officer had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of part XV of the
SFO) as at 31st March, 2025, as required to be recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Other than the share option schemes of the Company, at no time
during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in notes 22 and 30(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance,
to which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company or an entity connected with a director (as defined under
Section 486 of the Companies Ordinance) had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

Connected Transaction

The Company confirms that the related party transaction as disclosed
in note 30(a) to the consolidated financial statements is connected
transaction that falls under the de minimis transactions exemption and
is fully exempt under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.
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Name of shareholder

Silver Crown

510 RaNE

Capacity/Nature of interest

HaEEAA

Save as disclosed above, there were no other connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions which are required to be disclosed in
this annual report in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests or Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

Other than disclosed above under the section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive Officer’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” and other substantial shareholders’
interests disclosed in the following table, at 31st March, 2025, the
register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO showed that the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than the directors and the chief
executive officer) of any other relevant interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company.

AARE BT
FsEE BT REBDE
ZRREE Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

ordinary shares held of the Company

Beneficial owner

Well Feel Group Limited
(“Well Feel”)

EHI R s (HeE)

Interest of a controlled

corporation (Note)

HSBC International Trustee Limited
(“HSBC International”)

HiaF -
Silver Crown Z 2 #pE 2 7TAX A A Well Feeli%4 * M Well Feel 3
HSBC International 2 = & [i B A R] - IRIEFH K BAEEHEXV

EBESCZ MRE © Well Feel XHSBC International & B #8% {ER 5%
% Silver Crown# B 1z 2 FTA AN R RIIR (D P #EA i es o
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EREA(HYEE)
Trustee (Note)

1,393,347,737 55.34%
1,393,347,737 55.34%
1,393,347,737 55.34%

Note:

The entire issued share capital of Silver Crown was held by Well Feel
which in turn was a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC International. By
virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO, each of Well Feel and
HSBC International was deemed to be interested in all the shares of the
Company in which Silver Crown was interested.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for 43% of the total purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier included there is amounted
to 14% whereas the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the
year.

None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued shares) had an interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers or suppliers.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands,
being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares). As at 31st March, 2025, the
Company did not hold any treasury shares.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the senior management of the Group is
set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are recommended
to the Board by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

The Company has adopted share option schemes as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees and details of the scheme are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31st March, 2025 and
up to the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report
as required under the Listing Rules.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst
& Young, who will retire at the conclusion of the AGM and offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the
AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2025
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company hereby presents
this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report for the
year ended 31st March, 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are conducted in
accordance with high ethical standards. This reflects its belief that, in
the achievement of its long-term objectives, it is imperative to act with
probity, transparency and accountability. By so acting, the Company
believes that its shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long
term and that its employees, those with whom it does business and the
communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to ensuring
that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to maintaining and
developing robust corporate governance practices that are intended to
ensure:

- satisfactory and sustainable returns to shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Recognising the importance of a publicly listed company’s
responsibilities to enhance its transparency and accountability, the
Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance in the interests of its shareholders. The Board believes
that good corporate governance standards are essential in providing a
framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in Part
2 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) as the basis of the Company’s corporate

governance practices.

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the
year ended 31st March, 2025.

The Company continues to review its corporate governance practices in
order to enhance its corporate governance standard, to comply with the
increasingly tightened regulatory requirements and to meet the rising
expectations of shareholders and investors.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™) as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries, all
of the directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31st
March, 2025.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”)
for securities transactions by employees who are likely to possess
inside information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the
Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors should take decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly reviews the contribution required from a
director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the director is spending sufficient time performing them that
are commensurate with their role and the Board responsibilities. The
Board includes a balanced composition of executive directors and non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors)
so that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement.
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SESERRMKEANK - BIEUHNITESE « I IEHTT The Board currently comprises six members, consisting of two
EERINBILIENITES © executive directors, one non-executive director and three independent
non-executive directors.

EES AR ¢ The composition of the Board is as follows:

HITEE Executive Directors

BB S (EE) Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny (Chairman)

MERK L (7TEAEE) Ms. LAM Yuk Sum (Chief Executive Officer)

HHITEE Non-executive Director

MRS 5T A4 Mr. LAM Man Tin

BUHBITEE Independent Non-executive Directors

Y IE= e Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong

BN BB Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty

B+ Ms. LAU Sze Tung

TRETESZSEN2025F3A318 2% Tibikin ¢ The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at 31st
March, 2025:
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Ms. Lau Sze Tung, who has been appointed as the independent
non-executive director during the year ended 31st March, 2025,
has obtained the legal advice on Hong Kong Law as regards the
requirement under the Listing Rules that are applicable to her as a
director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a
false declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange
on 12th December, 2024, and she has confirmed she understood her
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

The biographical information of the directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report” on pages 15 to 17 of this annual report.

Save that Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and Ms. Lam Yuk Sum are
husband and wife, there are no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships among members of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There is a clear division in the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer which are performed by different individuals. This ensures a
balanced distribution of power and authority.

Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny, the Chairman of the Board, is
responsible for the leadership for and management of the Board,
ensuring the effective functioning of the Board and encouraging
directors to make full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs as
well as ensuring that all significant and key issues are discussed and
where required, resolved by the Board in a timely manner.

Ms. Lam Yuk Sum, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is
responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company. She is
responsible for implementing the Company’s strategy, objectives and
policies approved and delegated by the Board with the assistance of the
senior management.

The husband and wife relationship between Mr. Cheng Chung
Man, Johnny and Ms. Lam Yuk Sum does not impair the balance of
power between the Board and the management as their duties and
responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, the Company has at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors with at least one of
them possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise.
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The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive directors are independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism in November 2022 which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the Board, which
allows the Board effectively exercises independent judgment to better
safeguard shareholders’ interests.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, all directors has completed
the independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire
individually. The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism and
the results were satisfactory.

Non-executive Directors and Directors’ Election

Each of the directors of the Company is engaged on a service
agreement (for executive director) or an appointment letter (for non-
executive director and independent non-executive director) for a term
of 3 and 2 years, respectively. The appointment of executive director
may be terminated by either party by giving three months’ prior written
notice.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”), all
directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years at the Company’s annual general meeting and
any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the first annual general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting.
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of, and
promoting the success of the Company. This is achieved by the
setting up of corporate and strategic objectives and policies, and
the monitoring and evaluations of operating activities and financial
performance of the Company.

All the directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions objectively and
acting in the interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the
division of functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to the
management. The Board reserves for its decision on major matters
of the Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operations of the
Company are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior
management of the Company. The Board has delegated a schedule
of responsibilities to these officers for the implementation of Board
decisions. The Board periodically reviews the delegated functions
and work tasks. Prior to entering into any significant transactions, the
aforesaid officers have to obtain Board approval.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary and
senior management, with a view to ensuring compliance with Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any director may
request independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable request being made to the
Board.
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a year and
additional meetings are arranged as and when required to discuss
significant issues, involving active participation, either in person or
by means of electronic or other communication facilities. Schedules
for annual meeting and draft agenda of each meeting are sent to all
directors in advance to enable them to have an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda. Notice of at least 14 days is given of a regular
Board meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are despatched to all directors at least 3 days before each
regular Board meeting to ensure that the directors have sufficient
time to review the related documents and be adequately prepared
for the meeting. The Board and each director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are circulated to all
directors for comments within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final versions are open for directors’ inspection.

The Company’s Articles contains provisions requiring directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of directors’ responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for directors would be arranged and
reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to directors
where appropriate.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the directors
received the following trainings during the year ended 31st March,
2025 with emphasis on their roles, functions and duties as directors of
a listed company:

EEMA Name of Directors 3| 3 7 ()

Type of Training (Note)

HITEE Executive Directors

159" v Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny A.B

MERL L Ms. LAM Yuk Sum AB

HHITEE Non-executive Director

[>:&iibts Mr. LAM Man Tin A.B

B HBITESF Independent Non-executive Directors

BB S et Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong AB

BN EESE A Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty AB

BIFFY £ (R2024F 125 15HEZ(F) Ms. LAU Sze Tung (appointed on 15th December, 2024) A

GBS A (R20244F 12 515 A BHT) Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay (resigned on 15th December, 2024) AB

Kt - Note:

b Types of Training

A HEIERIRTE - BEFETRREE  Halg  Eilie A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
@R ILIE seminars, conferences and workshops

B: BIEIGRERT B M~ E - BT R RAGRETIY

ERESTHAFBEEXERZEZNE  URN2EEMA
BRI AR R E RS 2 FE R -
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B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines
and relevant publications

All the directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participating in any suitable training
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of all
three committees are posted on the Company’s website and Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited’s website and are available to
shareholders of the Company upon request.

All members of the Audit Committee while the majority of the
members of each of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee are independent non-executive directors and the list of
the chairman and members of each Board committee is set out under
“Corporate Information” on pages 2 to 4 of this annual report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of all directors of the Company
except Mr. Lam Man Tin, the majority of them are independent non-
executive directors.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure of all directors and senior management
remuneration and on the remuneration packages of all directors and
senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing formal and transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as market
practice and conditions, and reviewing and/or approving matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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The Remuneration Committee held five meetings during the year ended
31st March, 2025. During the meetings, the Remuneration Committee
has performed the following work: (i) reviewing and recommending
to the Board no bonus payment to directors and senior management
for the year 2024; (ii) reviewing and recommending to the Board
the salary packages of all directors and senior management for the
financial year 2025/2026; (iii) reviewing and recommending to the
Board regarding the remuneration package of one independent non-
executive director and one non-executive director upon renewal of
their respective appointment letters; (iv) reviewing and recommending
to the Board regarding the remuneration package of the newly joined
senior management; and (v) reviewing and recommending to the
Board regarding the remuneration package of the newly appointed

independent non-executive director.

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration
offered to employees, including directors and senior management,
is based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the
Company’s affairs. The remuneration packages of executive directors
are also determined with reference to the Company’s operating
results, the market rates for the position and the performance and
commitment of each executive director. The remuneration for the
executive directors comprises basic salary and allowance. Executive
directors shall receive share options to be granted under the Company’s
share option scheme. The remuneration policy for non-executive
director and independent non-executive directors is to ensure that
non-executive director and independent non-executive directors are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the
Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board committees.
The remuneration for the non-executive director and independent
non-executive directors mainly comprises director’s fee which is
determined with reference to the market practice. Non-executive
director and independent non-executive directors shall not receive
share options to be granted under the Company’s share option scheme.
Individual directors and senior management have not been involved in
deciding their own remuneration.
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Senior Management’s Emoluments

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other than
directors) by band for the year ended 31st March, 2025 are as follows:

EE AR
Number of
employees

B 1,000,000 7T Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 4

BEEREZE2025F3 A31 B IEFE 2 HMF BRI GRS I
A M FES o

REZEE
REZEGORAAFSBES (BHABEEN) - AH
P ABIIHTES -

REZEGZIERABERNEFEZRE  AELKA
B MeERBREERKREFEXNEZANE  REMEE
EREFECHENEESFHERRES  URFRBTL
FMTES 2B -

Details of the remuneration of each of the directors for the year ended
31st March, 2025 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of all directors of the Company
except Mr. Lam Man Tin, the majority of them are independent non-
executive directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning for directors, and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors.
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The Nomination Committee reviews annually the structure, size
and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make relevant
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy. In assessing the Board composition
and identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects set
out in the Board Diversity Policy to implement the corporate strategy
of the Company. The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree
on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, the Nomination Committee
held three meetings to recommend to the Board on the renewal of
appointment of one independent non-executive director and one non-
executive director, resignation of an independent non-executive
director and appointment of a new independent non-executive director,
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board, to assess
the independence of the independent non-executive directors, and to
consider the qualifications of the retiring directors standing for election

at the annual general meeting.

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in

maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
is committed to diversity at all levels and will consider a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and regional and industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at
all levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so
that a diverse range of candidates are considered.
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The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board
is sufficiently diverse and effective to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy, and the Board has not set any measurable
objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group, including the Board and senior management as at the date of
this annual report:

egi B

Female Male

Aotk Aok

% %

(AB) (A8

(Headcounts) (Headcounts)

BExg Board 33.3% 66.7%
(2) 4)

SREEE Senior management 50% 50%
(D (D

HitES Other employees 86.9% 13.1%
(740) (112)

BEST Overall workforce 86.4% 13.6%
(743) (117)

EEeCVEBAERYEEBAEE &R D33.3%(2%)
THES  50%(18) LERRERANE K86.9% (7404 ) &
T REE  UERRELMBEMRZ TS ARE ©

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least 33.3% (2)
of female directors, 50% (1) of female senior management and 86.9%
(740) of other female employees of the Group and considers that the
above current gender diversity is satisfactory.

Annual Report 2025 colourmixey MoriMor O  VECK)  Wanko




BEEERERBRA A

Corporate Governance Report £¥ERRES

REBBUR

EFECETARAREZESHRMERERNBEERE
FE=-

ARAFERMREBER - ERBEERAARESREER
ZEZEBREEREFURESTSEEABIZEERE
EERREFGRERARAFMFEREFTSAIEREENS
AR BREkETEY  EREESERLABGEE
HEET] ©

REABKRBFAFIEERREANESERATREHEFES
REBZEL - SEETRNATZIE

. RB AR A - HE - £R HER - HEXE
% BF SR kEMEARE:

c HEFENARIKEZ T ZFE

. 153E AR AT R BV [ B 20 /B 17 EL B A B A
oo BT E - BEBREARRR R R SAABAT

ERANBEREE - REMTREERAEGBER
B T AR

. R AFER S| BT, BROFIEER
. 1REANHBILIE
. REBRETBLIFNTEEM S » WEEEZRE

FH R

. RAZBSRRERBRMRBRAREENEME
=

colourmMixey MORIMOR O

Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy which sets out the
selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of directors
of the Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at
Board level.

The Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for assessing the suitability
and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate,
including but not limited to the following:

o age, skills, knowledge, experience, expertise, professional and
educational qualifications, background, and other personal
qualities of the candidates;

. effect on the Board’s composition and diversity;

. commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to
effectively carry out his/her duties. In this regard, the number
and nature of offices held by the candidate in public companies
or organisations, and other executive appointments or
significant commitments will be considered;

. potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the
candidate is selected;

. independence of the candidate;

. in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an independent
non-executive director, the number of years he/she has already
served; and

. other factors considered to be relevant by the Nomination

Committee on a case by case.
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The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the selection

and appointment of new directors and re-election of directors at general

meetings as follows:

Appointment of New Director

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the Nomination Committee identifies or selects candidates
recommended to the Nomination Committee, with or without
assistance from external agencies or the Company, pursuant to
the criteria set out in the Nomination Policy;

the Nomination Committee may use any process it deems
appropriate to evaluate the candidates, which may include
personal interviews, background checks, presentations
or written submissions by the candidates and third party
references;

the Nomination Committee will hold a physical meeting to
consider the matter and avoid the making of decisions by
written resolutions unless it is impractical that a physical
meeting be held;

the Nomination Committee provides to the Board with all the
information required including information set out in Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules in relation to the candidates;

the Nomination Committee makes recommendation to the
Board including the terms and conditions of the appointment;

the Board deliberates and decides on the appointment based
upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee;

all appointments of director should be confirmed by letter of
appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of the
appointment of the directors, which should be approved by the

Nomination Committee; and

pursuant to Rule 13.74 of the Listing Rules, where shareholders
are required to vote on electing or re-electing a director, the
circular accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting should contain all the information of the candidates
required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

In cases of re-appointments of existing directors, a meeting will be
held to consider the re-appointment based on the criteria set out in the
Nomination Policy.

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, there was change in the
composition of the Board. Mr. Yeung Wing Kay resigned as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from
15th December, 2024. Following the resignation of Mr. Yeung, Ms.
Lau Sze Tung was appointed as an independent non-executive director
with effect from 15th December, 2024.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all the three independent non-
executive directors with the chairman of which possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting expertise.
None of the committee members is a former partner of the Company’s
external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are: to oversee the Company’s
relationship with the external auditor; to review the financial
information; to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems; and to review the
effectiveness of the internal audit function, arrangements to enable
employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, the Audit Committee held
five meetings of which the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer attended four of these meetings. A summary of work
performed by the Audit Committee during the year was as follows:

(1) reviewed and commented on audited annual results for the year
ended 31st March, 2024 and unaudited interim results for the
six months ended 30th September, 2024 respectively;
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(ii) reviewed the business performance for the year ended 31st
March, 2024, three months ended 30th June, 2024, six months
ended 30th September, 2024 and nine months ended 31st
December, 2024;

(iii)  reviewed the scope of audit work, auditor’s remuneration and
terms of engagement and recommending the re-appointment of
the auditor, Ernst & Young;

(iv)  reviewed the effectiveness of the systems of financial reporting
and internal control including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions of the
Group;

(v) reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for financial
years 2025/2026, 2026/2027 and 2027/2028;

(vi)  reviewed the questionnaires issued by the Audit Committee and
answered by the executive directors;

(vii) reviewed the cash flow projection and considered the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available source
of finance in relation to its going concern assessment; and

(viii) reviewed the reports on right-of-use assets-related issues of the
Company for the first and third quarters of the year ended 31st
March, 2025.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the reports on the latest progress
of internal audit assignments and enterprise risk management project.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor once without the
presence of the executive directors and the management.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31st March, 2025
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the re-appointment of the external auditor.
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HiTEE Executive Directors

BB kA& Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny
MERZ T Ms. LAM Yuk Sum

FHITEE Non-executive Director

MR8 5k Mr. LAM Man Tin
BUHEHTEE Independent Non-executive Directors
BiZEES %4 Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong

B R LA Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty

2|3 ¥ 2 £ (12024 Ms. LAU Sze Tung (appointed on 15th
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15 K £ 4 £ (782024 % Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay (resigned on

1281508 1(F) 15th December, 2024)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and Employees Written Guidelines, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each director at the Board and Board
committee meetings and the general meeting of the Company held
during the year ended 31st March, 2025 are set out in the table below:

HERYE 8B RHE
Attendance/Number of Meetings
BRRAFAE
FHEEE REZEE EBERZES Annual
EE2 Remuneration Nomination Audit General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
24/24 5/5 3/3 & A 1/1
N/A
24/24 515 3/3 i@ B 1/1
N/A
17/24 N iE A & A TE M /1
N/A N/A N/A
17/24 5/5 3/3 5/5 1/1
16/24 5/5 3/3 4/5 1/1
5/9 212 1/1 212 & A
N/A
12/15 3/3 2/2 3/3 1/1

Besides the above—mentioned Board meetings, the Chairman also held
a meeting with the independent non-executive directors without the
presence of executive director and non-executive director during the
year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31st March, 2025 and ensure that the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and are
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards.

The directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance
with the HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate accounting
policies have also been used and applied consistently except the
adoption of new and revised standards, amendments to standards and
interpretation for the first time for current year’s financial statements.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report, during the year ended 31st March, 2025, the Group
incurred a net loss of HK$124,767,000 and, as of that date, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$120,964,000. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of
the Group and its available sources of finance in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projection prepared by management, which includes revenue and
expenditure growth of the business, working capital needs, and the
continuing renewal of the banking facilities. They are of the opinion
that, after taking into account the measures implemented or being
implemented, the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance
its operation and to meet its financial obligations for at least the next
twelve months from the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements. Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31st March, 2025 on a going concern basis.

The Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young, has issued an
unmodified opinion with a “Material Uncertainty related to Going
Concern” section in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”. Please refer
to the “Independent Auditor’s Report” from page 54 of this annual
report for details.
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The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 54
to 61 of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s
external auditor, Ernst & Young in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31st March, 2025 is set out below:

Bt EREA

R ER Category of Services Fee Paid/Payable

FAIT

HKS$’000

ZERTE Audit Service 2,100
HZE RS Non-audit Services

— BB IRES — Tax services 164

— HAibFZ AR — Other professional services 244

&t TOTAL 2,508

JoR e T T Ik O B B 4

BEEREHN

CERREEHNEREEABHEAREHER - EZG
EEBARBIMOMEREBBEMES ZER - Lk
EMAERMERERR EFESRREEARBZEER
B R E AR 2 AR RS AHERRAREE AR - EF
EHRARAEECRIMMEBEERERZ AR EE RN
EEFRG REREARE ZEZAREERERERRL
HEREHAEMIFBYEHERE  DERFHAEEM
BN AEEXB L 2 BRAREEEZB AR AR -

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Objective and Purpose

Enterprise risk management is fundamental and essential to the
achievement of the Group’s strategic objectives. The Board and the
management are responsible for identifying and analyzing the risks
underlying the achievement of business objectives, and for determining
how such risks should be managed and mitigated. The Board oversees
the Group’s potential risks and their respective mitigation strategies
and ensures risk management effectiveness. The Board ensures that
the Group has established and maintained a proper and effective risk
management and internal control systems, as well as reviewing the
effectiveness of the systems. The systems can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, as
they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives during the Group’s business operation.
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Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board, through the Audit Committee, assesses on an annual basis
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, which covers all material controls, including financial,
operational, compliance, as well as considers the sufficiency of budget
with respect to resources, employees’ capabilities and experience,
training courses and the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function. Significant issues from internal audit department, external
professional consultants and management letters from external auditor
are brought to the attention of the Audit Committee to ensure that
prompt remedial action is taken. All recommendations will be properly
followed up to ensure they are implemented within a reasonable period
of time.

The Company has an Internal Audit Department to handle the internal
audit function. The Internal Audit Department is responsible for
performing independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems. The Board has
reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function and the review
result is satisfactory.

Risk Management Framework and Major Tasks

The management of daily operations of the Company’s business
departments is based on the Company’s corporate risk management
framework. The corporate risk management framework addresses
four risk categories, including strategic, financial, operation and
compliance risks.

There is Risk Management Taskforce (“RMT”) which seek to
monitor the risks of the Group. The RMT was made up of members
of management and senior management, who reports to the Board
on matters of significance that arise. The RMT reports via the Audit
Committee to the Board. The RMT oversees the risk owners, who
are responsible for inventory management, information technology,
marketing and operation, etc. The risk owners reported to the RMT
their involved risks and the planned measures to mitigate those risks.

. During the current year, the RMT held two meetings.

colourmixes MoriMor O V0K Wanko




BEEERERBRA A

Corporate Governance Report £¥ERRES

. ZECHR S REEEERBNERZERABRNE
Ziw MERIENEEFTHEAEEHE
2025F3A31HIEFE 2 T REERR ©

EEERNEEE RERZEESRRAEE2025F3A3181E
FERBREERRASERZGHNERE EFSNERE
EEREBAEREURABEBXERZZET  BHA
EEEZE2025F3A31 B IEFERERERE XA ERER
%o BEVE EERGHRER  URARSERBAM
k7D FERNNBEVHERRBETIER  £HBREE

EA LB AT EAR AR B ARE 7 R S AR E I
MR AREREREMEREAREE T MIEBER 2T -

ARBREERBE - HARFEREREARARRBERD
ALTRREREANTAAEZZE@RHEARAFEH
EEREIET A REFENTETS

RRBMBRBEREFEE - A AR ALLHRES R
AR - AABEAMFRERERRE - AIEARREE SR
ESRES RABRNTR

HE2025F3A31HIEFE - WHEBRLRESEEMREMS -

MEERBEMAFHEMS - EFFH2013F8 7R KR
BEREK EEAARAEER  BEAR SHEEAR
RAARE S RE —RIES| - REREENER R ERE
ER R REREEHE -

colourmix &

MoriMor O  V0CKO  wanko

. The meetings involved the discussion of the existing risks and
measures to mitigate those risks and the RMT have re-assessed
the top 10 priority risks of the Group for the year ended 31st
March, 2025.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31st March, 2025. The Board, as supported
by the Audit Committee as well as the management report and the
internal audit findings, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, including the financial, operational
and compliance controls, for the year ended 31st March, 2025, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the financial reporting and staff qualifications,
experience and relevant resources.

Arrangements are in place to facilitate employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about the possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Group.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy for employees of
the Company and those who deal with the Company to raise concerns,
in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matters related to the Company.

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to safeguard
against corruption and bribery within the Company. The Company
has a confidential reporting channel that is open and available for
employees of the Company to report any suspected corruption and
bribery.

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, there were no non-
compliance cases in relation to bribery and corruption.

For the handling and dissemination of inside information, a Disclosure
Policy has been adopted by the Board since August 2013 with an aim
to provide a general guide to the directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees of the Company in handling of confidential
information and/or monitoring of information disclosure pursuant to

applicable laws and regulations.
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The control procedures were stated and identified in the Disclosure
Policy. The Company has procedures in place to keep information
confidential and manage actual or potential conflicts of interest. The
Company has an Internal Audit Department to handle the internal
audit functions, which reports directly to the Audit Committee and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and also reports the matters
concerning internal control of the Company for the year ended 31st
March, 2025 to the Audit Committee during its regular meetings.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Chi Ying has resigned as the Company Secretary of
the Company with effect from 1st Feburary, 2025. Following the
resignation of Ms. Wong, Ms. Chow Man Yee has been appointed as
the Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 1st February,
2025. Both Ms. Wong and Ms. Chow complied with the qualification
and training requirements under the Listing Rules for the year ended
31st March, 2025.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue in general meetings,
including the election of individual directors, for shareholders’
consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward in general
meetings are taken by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the
poll results are posted on the websites of the Company and of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited after each general meeting.
Detailed procedures for conducting a poll are also explained during the
proceedings of meetings.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Extraordinary general meetings may be convened on the requisition
of one or more shareholders holding in aggregate at least one tenth of
the voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the share capital
of general meetings pursuant to article 64 of the Company’s Articles.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary, stating the business to be transacted, and signed by the
requisitionist(s). Shareholders should follow the requirements and
procedures as set out in the Company’s Articles.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s Articles or the Cayman
Islands Companies Act for shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with
the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the
Company, please refer to the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose
a Person for Election as a Director” which is posted on the Company’s
website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company normally will not deal with verbal or anonymous

enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: 10th Floor., Wyler Centre Phase II, 192-200 Tai Lin Pai
Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Company Secretary)

Fax: (852) 2310 9017

Email: contact@veeko.com.hk

Shareholders are encouraged to provide, amongst other things, in
particular, their email addresses to the Company in order to facilitate
timely and effective communication.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

Communications with shareholders and investors

The Company endeavors to maintain a high level of transparency in
communicating with shareholders and the investment community at
large. The Company is committed to continue to maintain an open and
effective communication policy and to update shareholders, investors
and general public on relevant information on its business in a timely
manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirements, through the
annual reports, interim reports, announcements and other corporate

communications.

The Board welcomes shareholders’ views on matters affecting
the Group, and encourages their attendance at general meetings
to communicate any concerns they may have with the Board or
management directly. The Company’s annual general meeting is
an especially important forum. In order to encourage and facilitate
shareholders’ attendance at its annual general meeting, the Company
gives at least 21 days’ prior notice together with a detailed agenda. The
Chairman of the Board and the chairman of each Board committees (or
their delegates) are available to answer questions at general meetings.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Company
maintains a website at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/veeko/index.htm,
where up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s structure,
board of directors, announcements, financial information and other
information are posted.

Constitutional document

During the year under review, there was no change in the Company’s
Articles. An up-to-date version of the Company’s Memorandum and
Articles is available on the websites of the Company and Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
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Shareholder’s Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy

to promote effective communication with shareholders and other

stakeholders, encourage shareholders to engage actively with

the Company and enable shareholders to exercise their rights as

shareholders effectively. The Board reviewed the implementation and

effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and the

results were satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an

on-going dialogue with its shareholders as follows:

(a)

(b)

Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing Rules
refers to any document issued or to be issued by the Company
for the information or action of holders of any of its securities,
including but not limited to the following documents of the
Company: (a) the directors’ report, annual accounts together
with a copy of the auditor’s report and, where applicable, its
summary financial report; (b) the interim report and, where
applicable, its summary interim report; (c) a notice of meeting;
(d) a listing document; (e) a circular; and (f) a proxy form.

The Corporate Communication of the Company will be
published on the website of the Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) in a timely manner as
required by the Listing Rules.

Corporate Communication will be provided to shareholders
and non-registered holders of the Company’s securities in both
English and Chinese versions or where permitted, in a single
language, in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules.

Announcements and Other Documents pursuant
to the Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on price sensitive
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other
documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles) on the website of
the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the website of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited are also published on the Company’s website
(http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/veeko/index.htm).

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between the
Company and its shareholders.

The Company shall provide shareholders with relevant
information on the resolutions(s) proposed at a general meeting
in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s).

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and
on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.

Where appropriate or required, the chairman of the Board and
other Board members, the chairmen of board committees or
their delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer shareholders’ questions (if
any).

The chairman of the independent board committee (if any)
should also be available to answer questions at any general
meeting to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent shareholders’
approval.
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(e) Shareholders’ Enquiries

Engquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, via its online holding
enquiry service at www.tricoris.com, or send email to
is-enquiries @vistra.com or call its hotline at (852) 2980 1333,
or go in person to its public counter at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be

put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of Company Secretary, by email:
contact@veeko.com.hk, fax: 2310 9017, or mail to 10th Floor,
Wyler Centre Phase II, 192-200 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai
Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong. Shareholders may call the
Company at 2887 0888 for any assistance.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends.
The Company do not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group
and the conditions and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a
financial year and any final dividend for a financial year will be subject
to the shareholders’ approval.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF VEEKO INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Veeko
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 179,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st March, 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
March, 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BEECRBEEAGHMASREMIEBETEA(EEE
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ARFBEREZEXRTRERE

EEENRBIZBREUHHRRME21 EPBERREE
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T REBEZBAILL ESEZRBDEEBREERBEE
120,964,000/ 7 ° % FI1E N IERGRE M IS HRER M TE2. 1Pk
MEMEBE  BLREEEATHEERZ  AJEgY &5
ERFECEENEETARME SERUHEENERTE

fE&T -

REETTSEH
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AMBHRRRHABREETRE - AT T TEHZEER

REEBLER -BABHELCLECEATHREFNEZ 5
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$124,767,000 during the year ended 31st March, 2025 and, as of
that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$120,964,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to

be communicated in our report.
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Key audit matter

RIT 2B TENAEEBRETSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EHEFIZEX BERREUARBEHFZEFEEE(EHLE TX)ZHETE
Impairment assessment of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets (as defined below)

EEEHS BEEEHERFION  WMERHEE  RMEEEIN
RRAERE(EBRIZER  BERREDRTEEH  RAE
MERAEZEAREEE(EBRNZEREEE ) 2RERHE - B
202534318 - BERBIZEZE - BE KREARE R 2 &R
EE 2 BREES 554,351,000 7T 12 87,831,000/ 7T

We identified the impairment assessment of the Group’s leasehold
improvements, plant and machinery, furniture and fixtures and office
equipments (“Identified PPE”) and right-of-use assets of retail stores,
office properties and motor vehicles (“Identified ROU assets”). The
carrying amounts of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets
as at 31st March, 2025 were HK$4,351,000 and HK$87,831,000,
respectively.

MEE2025F3 431 H EFE - BEREE D BIET12482,00078 7T K
5,495,000/ 70 * AR E BRI EE - BiE KR ERE B 2 EH
REEZREEREZH AT O S o

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, impairment losses of
HK$482,000 and HK$5,495,000 were provided to write down the
carrying amounts of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets
to their recoverable amounts, respectively.

EEEEREDBACANRESRBA(EREREHMISE
EMRBANBERR) RS EEMBOERNTEEHETER
BEANE {MEERSEENTKROEE  ETFNEZ2HA2H
@?ﬁﬁiiﬁﬂ%%%ﬁ EHERFEE - B TERER  HMEFEZ

AREERE=R - EEBAWE%%EQ%%FE’JTH&@:E%EiM—r
ﬁ?ﬁ)ﬂ%é’]ﬁﬁi? B IR & A E A 2 &/ MERIZA R RER

15u+ﬁ/¢&.ﬁ{ﬁu+7rﬁ€ﬂilz\ EBE H#ﬁt?ﬁ%%@ﬂ%ﬁ%lﬁ °

The recoverable amounts of these assets have been determined by the
management of the Group by applying the value in use calculations
of individual retail stores to which these assets belong using the
discounted cash flow forecasts based on management’s expectations
of the market development and the past performance, where the key
input parameters include forecasted revenue, gross profit margins and
discount rates. The outcome of impairment assessment could vary
significantly when different assumptions are applied. Due to inherent
estimation uncertainty pertaining to the assumptions and estimation
required to assess the recoverable amounts of these assets or the cash-
generating unit or the smallest group of cash-generating units to which
those assets belong, we considered this as a key audit matter.

A ESHNEGRE SRR S - 1415 ¢
The relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RITHEE B ZEE  BERREARE#II 2 EAEEE ZRE
%WHEE%Z%EH%F%E%MT :

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of the
Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets included the following:

. wB BEEENFAZERBEZFERRESE Z5HE
. Reviewed the Group’s calculation of value in use, and the
calculation of impairment charges during the year;

. BEATARMGEIRATEERBEETEMARTRE
. Involved our internal specialists to evaluate the discount rates used
in the value in use calculations;

. AR AEER T EREAEL O RR R (25

i‘ﬁ AL EBREMNENEA (K2 EZHRBETEEH Z2BER
B) HmsBERNEASER BERERRKREETE)

. Assessed the assumptions and estimates adopted by management
in the value in use calculations including forecasted revenue and
gross profit margins with reference to the past performance of
relevant retail stores, expectations on the market development and
the future operating plans of the Group;

. *ETFHKE@ﬁéiiﬁﬁﬁEFH%EQEUM%%E EFRRITR KA
B THEEHEEFENZE R

. Evaluated the impact on the value in use calculations based on the
possible changes of the forecasted revenue, gross profit margins
and discount rates applied by the management of the Group; and

. AR A M MR AR EERNEZHERG A -
. Assessed the adequacy of disclosures about the impairment of
non-current assets in the consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

REYF2ZEE

Valuation of investment properties

M2025F3A31H » EREERREYH513,552,00087T @ 15&
FEAAFE263.2% » WRATBEEE -

As at 31st March, 2025, the Group had investment properties of
HK$513,552,000, which represented 63.2% of the total assets and
were measured at fair value.

REMENHERETEEZENBILAERMEER([LER])E
E o MEDBARGERERER Z T ERABE(BEEREREE
HZHE) - RETREMEZ ATEER  AEMEREZZEHA
2HPIMERMELLE - BEHR R HEABARBAUNEZ R
AR HER - HRNEEREVELATFEERME ZBRRLMAHE
B2 PREEN - RNTIEER R AR FIE -

The valuation of investment properties was determined by independent
qualified valuers (the “Valuers”) engaged by management. The
valuations are dependent on the valuation method and key inputs to the
model that includes judgements made by management. In determining
the fair value of the investment properties, the Valuers considered key
input parameters such as capitalisation rates, monthly market rents per
square foot/metre and recent transaction prices of similar properties.
Due to inherent estimation uncertainty pertaining to the assumptions
and estimations required when determining the fair value of the
investment properties, we considered this as a key audit matter.

HEARBEEN GRS M RRMEIR13
The relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIETIEONERERRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RITHIREMEEERF 2B EFELE
Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties
included:

. FHAERER N - B  FEMEREE
. Evaluated the objectivity, independence, expertise and
competence of the Valuers;

. BEMERBEE  BEENMEEE  mEAME  HRERS
HEMHEER

. Reviewed the property related data, including the capitalisation
rates, monthly market rents, discount rates and market unit selling

prices;

. EFEARTARMEEZR G E S A ERMPERAOEER
MRER + M

. Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the valuation methodologies and assumptions adopted
by the Valuers; and

. ARG MBRMRANRENE 2 AERENRERT RS -
. Assessed the adequacy of disclosures relating to the valuation of
investment properties in the consolidated financial statements.
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RATEHEARMBRR BT E - NTZEENHEER
EH  YHELBEFEEEMENST BEAMHRE
EARITERTBIER TR BERAFEEREBRELUFF
EEREREMZ BN - ERAITERITZTHE » AT
ROHEMERBRERGRRL - ATFEREZFE -
ARITER S L A BIRA S o

EERGREMBBRRAREZER

EARERBARREEEEHMAG B2 BEHGH
SRARHANR BTN BB RERBEE T2
TrHEAMBEE  EFRAFBLNBELRRAERA
B 595 2 G BT R S R T A
it -

EREGaVBHRRE . BEXARNEFEENE EXE
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=H URERFELERSTER K BEARES
AR BEEEFBRIEFLLE  FPIEEMBERZER
TE e

ERREFEERZESNBY TRITEEE B5EHZ
IS ERBIECBE -
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Other Information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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EMEMALTE RS AEEE
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HET BTN E A RIUR o $5RR B AT PA f HRR
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. BB e FHE RN KGE SR EE RR T B B AR & M S R 7
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£ Rk REEHRAMFEME B 2 EAHRRAL 2
2B 75 A R B B 3R Rl 85 AR T S B 8 KSR AR R 2 R
B o

. THREEGT AR ARERE  URFHEE 2 EFE
F EEWIEYE BREZAPEREBRIESR
RER °

. AEEEMRAETBRZRE ERIE &R EE
KRB AR -

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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HEERAKBECE S ERZREMIEL &R -
RIBFIER 2 FEHERE - THREEEFEEEEL
BREMZEATEERE - #MARERY &
SEZBBERERNELETRER - MATRRTF
EEATHEERE  AEUEERHAREDIRE
EREEIEHRAMBRERT ZAMKE - BEERH
ZEBEAR - AATEREEHRER - RNTZEme
EPNZEEN IR E B EABUS 2 BEHERRE - A » R
KREREFBERTEEH BREREFELE -

AEEF e B RRZEREY  RBERAR(RE
BEER)  AREEPBHRRETTE RRIAEH
RHRFR -

SEIETREBEN AT BEEERNERBREKE
Lz HMBERESTR  BEZBNRE  (ERY
SAMBHMRENBERLZEE - ATREHR BE
EZ=ti = TR TR M - BB -
AIRENBRAEZREME -

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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EB 202556 527H

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent

auditor’s report is Lam Wai Ming, Ada (practising certificate number:
P04699).

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2025
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GEEBRAMEEBAR

HZE2025F3A31 R IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
2025 2024
Kt FTHERT FHET
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
<] Revenue 4 481,484 586,710
SHER A Cost of goods sold (260,316) (327,389)
EF Gross profit 221,168 259,321
H A A\ B 588 Other income and gains, net 5 15,161 18,034
SHE RO SR Selling and distribution costs (206,319) (214,516)
THRER Administrative expenses (67,327) (68,925)
BEYHENFEEZ Change in fair value of investment
2E)FHE properties, net (40,918) 5,324
BRE SHBZBHEEEEZ Reversal of expected credit loss for trade
[ % receivables - 3,381
EX - BEMIEZRE Impairment of property, plant and
equipment (482) (442)
EREEEZRE Impairment of right-of-use assets (5,495) (5,783)
BhE A A Finance costs 7 (39,781) (34,805)
MR A AT R Loss before tax 6 (123,993) (38,411)
MEFBFZ Income tax expense 10 (774) (1,632)
REE R Loss for the year (124,767) (40,043)
KEEHMEE Other comprehensive (loss)/income for
(F58), WA the year
HGKELBNDIEE Item that will not be reclassified
BmsHA subsequently to profit or loss
L ES= A il G Gain on revaluation of properties, net
(HIBRRIERLIH ) of deferred tax 1,606 60,168
HERREEF 7 IEZE Item that may be reclassified
BmsHA subsequently to profit or loss
REGINEBEEZ Exchange differences arising on
&R =% translation of foreign operations (963) (4,579)
REFFEAMZEBA Other comprehensive income
for the year 643 55,589
NEEBE2E(EE) A Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year (124,124) 15,546
B AR L@ ERS AES Loss per share attributable to ordinary
HFRREE equity holders of the parent 12
—EARGE) — Basic (in HK cents) (4.955) (1.590)
—#E (B(L) — Diluted (in HK cents) (4.955) (1.590)
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At 31st March, 2025

Non-current Assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Rental deposits paid

Total Non-current Assets

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayment and other receivables
Rental and utility deposits paid
Tax recoverable
Pledged deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total Current Assets

Current Liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Rental deposits received
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities
Provision
Tax payable

Total Current Liabilities
Net Current Liabilities
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities

Non-current Liabilities
Other payables
Other borrowings
Rental deposits received
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Total Non-current Liabilities
Net Assets
Equity

Share capital

Reserves

Total Equity

Htat
Notes

13

15(a)

20
21

23

15(b)
24

21
22

25
15(b)

26

2025 2024
FBT TR
HK$°000 HK$’000
513,552 552,651
16,002 18,517
89,929 127,848
9,559 13,157
629,042 712,173
120,605 106,501
1,957 5,969
8,740 5,695
25,287 26,116
126 378
13,070 2,231
13,126 8,537
182,911 155,427
23,555 30,620
36,114 42,178
927 656
178,095 390,454
64,544 78,103
329 898
311 274
303,875 543,183
(120,964) (387,756)
508,078 324,417
2,369 3,523
369,100 37,450
1,803 1,859
18,071 17,756
37,458 60,508
428,801 121,096
79,277 203,321
25,180 25,180
54,097 178,141
79,277 203,321

Cheng Chung Man, Johnny

Chairman

Lam Yuk Sum

Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEEagBx

BE2025F3A31HILFE

R03F4E1H

REERER
REREMERKA
hxafioka

(MBELHE)
AEBNERELZEL 2R

AERREANA

BRERLE ARG

BRI
BENEE
Efffe

R0UEIA3IAR
24F4A1R

KEERR
REREMEENA
nEEG NG

(MBS EIERR)
REENEHELZEL 2R

AERELTHER

BREREE IR
RERZEN

Bt BRE

BXHERE

200538310

# ZERBELRERFREUMBMRARANGE FEB
54,097,000/ 7T (20244F : 178,141,000/ 7T ) ©

At Ist April, 2023

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year:

Gain on revaluation of properties,
net of deferred tax

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Recognition of equity-settled

share-based payments
Share options lapsed
Dividend paid

At 31st March, 2024 and
Ist April, 2024

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year:

Gain on revaluation of properties,
net of deferred tax

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

Recognition of equity-settled

share-based payments
Share options cancelled
Share options lapsed

At 31st March, 2025

Annual Report 2025

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

NEEf BhE
fafe fife
B ROEE  Property  EXRE  KERE  iERE Share  RMEE

Share Share  revaluation Translation Special  Statutory option  Accumulated =
capital  premium’ reserve’ reserve’ reserve’  reserves’ reserve’ losses* Total

(Witw) W) W)

(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
TAL T TAL T TAL TATL TAL TAL ThRL
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$°000  HKS$'000
25,180 223,654 92,998 (1,570) 1,668 4,028 453 (146,200 200,210
- - - - - = - (40,043) (40,043)
- - 60,168 - - - - - 60,168
- - - (4,579) = = - - (4579)
- - 60,168 (4.579) - - - (40,043) 15,546
- - - - - - 155 - 155
- - - - - - ) -
- (12,590) - - - - - - (12,590)
25,180 211,004 153,166 (6,149) 1,668 4,028 605 (186,241) 203,321
- - - - - - - (14761 (124)767)
- - 1,606 - - - - - 1,606
- - - (963) - - - - (963)
- - 1,606 (963) - - - (14761 (124124)
- - - - - - 80 - 80
- - - - - - ) 4 -
- - - - - - (74) 4 -
25,180 211,064 154,772 (7,112) 1,068 4,028 007 (310,930) 19,271
# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

HK$54,097,000 (2024: HK$178,141,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERB R

HE2025F3A31HIEFE

sz -

(a)

(b)

(c)

WEEGHRHEIASAERARNEEEENE S
EREATEEARZKEMEMES

REE R R ER TR T IIMmE Z &AM

(i) M 1999 F % B & 4 Veeko Holdings
Limited ) iR AN I B B R 1 B) B 1T 1E 3 WA
REMRAEERZRE &

(ii) Veeko Holdings Limited 7 & [ 2 48 A iE A
B AR - ZEMBARRANAmEER
Veeko Holdings Limited %17 £ & W B K &
MR A EER =5 -

WP EARERERER R FMAAREER
TRARZBERTEEH CRETABEFERER)
METEDLLBEHES  SEREBETHEME K
BREFRAGE EZREEHREEBELYN
50% % - AR AR D U D E (T — PR o SRR
ER AEE T F RS MER -« A - R&E
BRBLACEBREENEHRAESNEREANS
125% °

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(¢)

The property revaluation reserve arose from a change in use
from an owner-occupied property to an investment property
carried at fair value upon the date of transfer.

The special reserve of the Group represents the aggregate of:

(1) the difference between the nominal value of the share
capital of Veeko Holdings Limited and the nominal
value of the share capital issued by the Company as
consideration for the acquisition, arisen from the group
reorganisation in 1999; and

(i) the difference between the aggregate nominal value
of the share capital of the subsidiaries when they were
acquired by Veeko Holdings Limited prior to the group
reorganisation and the nominal value of the share capital
issued by Veeko Holdings Limited as consideration for
the acquisition.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
companies comprising the Group which are registered in the
PRC shall appropriate a certain percentage of their net profit
after tax (after offsetting any prior years’ losses) calculated
under the accounting principles generally applicable to the PRC
enterprises to reserve funds. When the balance of this reserve
reaches 50% of the entity’s capital, any further appropriation
is optional. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior
years’ losses or to increase capital. However, the balance of the
statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a minimum of
25% of the capital after those usages.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
(Loss)/gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment, net
Gains on modification of leases
Gains on termination of leases
Change in fair value of investment
properties, net
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Impairment of property, plant and
equipment
Impairment of right-of-use assets
Reversal of expected credit loss for trade
receivables
(Reversal of)/provision for inventories
Write-off of inventories
(Reversal of)/provision for onerous
contracts
Share-based payment expenses

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Increase in inventories

Decrease in trade and other receivables

Decrease in rental and
utility deposits paid
(Decrease)/increase in trade and
other payables
Increase/(decrease) in rental
deposits received
Decrease/(increase) in rental
deposits paid

Net cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Hong Kong profits tax paid

Tax refund/(paid) in other jurisdictions

NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

2025 2024
e FET FHET
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
(123,993) (38,411)
7 39,781 34,805
3 (3,506) (1,237)
5
280 (275)
5 (48) (499)
5 (6) (755)
6
40,918 (5,324)
6
3,682 4,879
6 92,869 93,137
6
482 442
6 5,495 5,783
6
- (3,381)
6 (1,906) 987
6 1,502 1,421
6
(569) 314
6 80 155
55,061 92,041
(13,700) (15,734)
197 1,799
3,514 207
(14,156) 16,396
224 (664)
1,490 (3,467)
32,630 90,578
(8,111) (7,778)
(574) (599)
40 (187)
23,985 82,014
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BEEERERBRA A

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEBEERER

HZE2025F3A31HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
2025 2024
Bzt THET FHET
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
REEK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BUFIE Interest received 1,949 13
BEEX  WELREER Purchase of items of property,
plant and equipment (2,503) (6,139)
RELEEE  WE&&E Proceeds from disposal of property,

2 Was plant and equipment 31 348
EIRTFER TN Placement of pledged deposits (52,991) (2,231)
EHFRZ IR Withdrawal of pledged deposits 42,152 -
ARREEBNRESFE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES (11,362) (8,009)
MEEY FINANCING ACTIVITIES
HIBRIT R HMER New bank and other loans 668,156 231,720
BEBETREMER Repayment of bank and other loans (507,686) (215,682)
i OB New import loans 142,120 268,117
BEEOER Repayment of import loans (181,117) (256,041)
HEMZOEEEH S Principal portion of lease payments (96,001) (93,643)
2FE Interest paid (31,296) (27,027)
BT E Dividend paid - (12,590)
FAREEEEN NET CASH USED IN

ReRE FINANCING ACTIVITIES (5,824) (105,146)
ReRBRELEEER NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN

#in,/ CRd) BHE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6,799 (31,141)
FONRERASEEER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

BEGINNING OF YEAR 6,355 38,097
IEERSH 2 HE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES (28) (601)
FRORERASEEER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR 13,126 6,355
RERAESEERBERZDON ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
e NIRTTES Cash and bank balances 19 13,126 8,537
IRTF R Pledged deposits 19 13,070 2,231
26,196 10,768
ERERITREEARNFR Deposits pledged as security for banking
facilities (13,070) (2,231)
RITBEX Bank overdrafts 23 - (2,182)
RNEEHSRERMIIESRESSE  Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
BIE R consolidated statement of cash flows 13,126 6,355

colourmixes MoriMor O  VPCK)  Wanko




VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BEREERERAR((RARRESHSEMRILA
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SFRD) B o AAR 2 MM ERRE R LN AE
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RAREERREZER A A R HEIER AT ASilver Crown
Profits Limited * Z R AN ERBRELHSEMMKTL - E&x
#% B HSBC International Trustee Limited fX, 3 The J Cheng
Family Trusti g °
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- REEK

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

1. Corporate and Group Information

Veeko International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in “Corporate Information” of the annual report.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the holding company
and ultimate holding company is Silver Crown Profits Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which is ultimately
owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited for The J Cheng Family
Trust.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the following principal
activities:

- manufacture and sale of ladies fashion

- sale of cosmetics

- investment holding
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE

1. RAREEER(E)

MELQRZER

RRRIEEHRBRAZFBAOT :

F A B BB

Name of subsidiary

Veeko Holdings Limited

=R AR AR
Veeko Fashion Company
Limited

Wina Success Limited

REE LD BR AT
Colourmix Cosmetics
Company Limited

Colourmix Cosmetics Retail
Company Limited

REERBRIZERER QA
Colourmix International
Holdings Limited

SEEE 3 = R R A PR A A
(Rfzt)

Shantou Huanan Digao
Fashion Company
Limited (Note)

=31 -
EEM B

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
operations

RBRZHES B

BVI/Hong Kong
BB

Hong Kong

BB

Hong Kong

v
Hong Kong

5
Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong

FE R E AL

PRC/Mainland
China

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

ERITRBRRA,

HEER AATEEREZESE FEEK

Issued and

fully paid Percentage of

share capital/ equity attributable

registered capital to the Company Principal activities

=K 5
Direct Indirect

618.563%7T REFEIR

US$618.56 100% - Investment holding

2,400,000/ 7T KREE

HK$2,400,000 - 100% Retailing of garments

10078 7T EST=E7IES

HK$100 - 100%  Property holding

1,000,000/ 70 {erthin RS mTE

HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Retailing of
cosmetics and skincare
products

100,000/ 7T (et REE mTE

HK$100,000 - 100%  Retailing of
cosmetics and skincare
products

10,0007 7T FEME

HK$10,000 = 100%  Property holding

20,000,0007 7T BRI B

HK$20,000,000 - 100%  Manufacture of

garments
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(Continued)

3o M ERITRARKA,
MEAR B BB & AAFEEEZADLE FTEER
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid Percentage of
establishment/ share capital/ equity attributable
Name of subsidiary operations registered capital to the Company Principal activities
B iz
Direct Indirect
IR R REER AR FE B A 36,000,000 7T RIRBLERFFBYF
(i)
Shantou Yungao Fashion PRC/Mainland HK$36,000,000 — 100%  Manufacture of
Company Limited China garments and

(Note)

Het : ZERRNEEREBIERECE M

3t B 2 R A A Sk 7 £ e AR A M i RS (B R Y
BIES

ERIHEERANFAZBEZEASEEERNNFRE

BRAREBABNEEXEBEZINBAR - EFERRIIL
HMBARZFBEESEBNITE

Annual Report 2025

property holding

Note: The companies are registered in the form of wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results of the Group
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the assets or liabilities of
the Group at the end of the year. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE
2. EFBEX

2.1. RBE%E

ZEFB/REDERABFLSAMAG([EEGHMD
)R BB BEREENGHEA(ETREMEERS
FHHEEAN([ BB BREER]) - BEGEN(F
B DRRE)REER RO Z REZ kMRS -
ZEMBRRTVIRBE LR LR - EREMERAF
BEFERI - BEEEAEIN  ZEUBHREITIAET
(MBT2F MABSBRINBEERECAN T -

FRAEAT &

HZE2025F3A31HIEFE - ANEEERSFE1E124,767,000
BT MBEZB AL ARERNRHARBRERHE
E120,964,00076 7T ©

R2025F3 A318 « ANEE—F A EI B kM A5 ZREE K
K2 BIRITIE B A178,095,00058 7T ° 742025538310 -
AEE RS RESEEEE £13,126,0007 7T ©

EREAER  EFCEEEELARERKRDES KK
BARETAMBERR N AREEEE e HANBE
TRIAFFBILE -

ARREFCEHNEEERRNAKRER S REEN - 8
EBWARFZIER - BB T RURRITRENFEE
] o
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025
2. Accounting Policies

2.1. Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, the Group incurred a net loss
of HK$124,767,000 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$120,964,000.

As at 31st March, 2025, the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings
due within one year or contain a repayable on demand clause amounted
of HK$178,095,000. As at 31st March, 2025, the Group had cash and
cash equivalents of HK$13,126,000.

In view of the above circumstances, the directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group and
its available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cashflow
projection prepared by management, which includes revenue and
expenditure growth of the business, working capital needs and, the
continuing renewal of the banking facilities.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

In the opinion of directors of the Company, the Group will have
adequate funds available to enable it to operate as a going concern after
taking into the following:

@) In April 2025, the Group repaid revolving loan of HK$20
million and in the same month, a new HK$20 million mortgage
loan, repayable in 180 monthly installments, was negotiated
and obtained;

(i) on going negotiation for renewal of existing banking facilities
and external financing, including but not limited to, obtaining
further banking facilities; and

(iii)  consideration of potential downside risk factors, working
capital sensitivities and identified mitigating actions that could
be taken to further reduce cash expenditure and meet operating
cashflow.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, after taking
into account the measures implemented or being implemented, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operation and
to meet its financial obligations for at least the next twelve months
from the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31st March, 2025 on a going concern basis.

Whether the Group will be able to generate adequate cashflows to
continue as a going concern would depend on the successful outcome
of the above measures.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
may have to be made to write down the values of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities that might arise,
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2025. A subsidiary is an
entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

colourmixe MoriMor O  VeCKO  Wanko




BEEERERBRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE P mR MR

HE2025F3A31HIEFE
2. BFBEK#E)

2.1. REEE(E)

AR BE(E)

—BTE  ASHRERETBUMIEHE - WAAFE
EREEREEORBEEHSASHETRIELUER - A
AEBEFGEESTRAHREYROEHBEEERA
EEEERER - 81F

() EREHSHMERRSREAZBNSOZHE

(b) BREMAS O RPELNEN &
(c) REENKEEREERTE -

B A AR EA D R — Bz & 5 BUR R BARR S5 B/
MBI IRR - B R R FA IR AKBEESZEHIEZ B
HEse R - THRESS \NREEZFEHIRELERL -

MAESENEEREE  #x8 WA  FAXREREEK
BRAIZHEARHEMIIRSRONE B RSB 2HE KN o

s 5 B R BB R DA _E PR B 4 2 = (B T = b B9 —fEl 3k
ZEEMES  AKESEHIEETEEFRELR -
EDNREEHRZERT - HEBRARZHAREREIZ
PR 5518k

fisl 78 S= B R K T B R B RO - BRI IETERIB R &
E BERERREERERMREEANRENAFEER
Ba P EMEEEENBRHER © BAREMEEKRA
NERWAEBREDB D RREAEEEREHERHEE
HEBEMANEREESH DB BEIRT M (8
R) e

colourmixey MORIMOR O

For the year ended 31st March, 2025
226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it
has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the

investee;
(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets, liabilities and exchange translation reserve and recognises
the fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025
2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.2. Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following amended HKFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year’s financial statement:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the amended HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate occurring from the date of initial application
of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

2.
2.2,

(b)

(c)

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1st April, 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users
of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier
finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have supplier
finance arrangements, the amendments did not have any impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025
2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3. Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and amended HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new
and amended HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they
become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures’
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and ~ Amendments to the Classification

HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature-
HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Amendments to HKFRS 1,
Accounting Standards — HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
Volume 11 and HKAS 7°

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2026

Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after Ist
January, 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

2.

2.3.

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards that are

expected to be applicable to the Group is described below:

(a)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes
and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the
primary financial statements and the notes. Some requirements
previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance
of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33
Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to
other HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st January, 2027 with earlier application permitted.
Retrospective application is required. The Group is currently
analysing the new requirements and assessing the impact of
HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s

financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

2.
2.3.

(b)

(c)

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards (Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the
reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have
public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use which comply with HKFRS Accounting
Standards. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company
is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS
19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy option
to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through
an electronic payment system before the settlement date if
specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with
non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures for
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained profits
(or other component of equity) at the initial application date.
Prior periods are not required to be restated and can only
be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier application
of either all the amendments at the same time or only the
amendments related to the classification of financial assets
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.

2.3.

(d

(e)
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Accounting Policies (Continued)

Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the application of the
“own-use” requirements for in-scope contracts and amend
the designation requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow
hedging relationship for in-scope contracts. The amendments
also include additional disclosures that enable users of the
financial statements to understand the effects these contracts
have on an entity’s performance and future cash flows. The
amendments relating to the own-use exception shall be applied
retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. The
amendments relating to the hedge accounting shall be applied
prospectively to new hedging relationships designated on
or after the date of initial application. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be
applied at the same time. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption

now.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

2.

2.3.

()

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

2.
2.3.

(2)

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs 1G1, IG14 and 1G20B
of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the
purpose of simplification or achieving consistency
with other paragraphs in the standard and/or with the
concepts and terminology used in other standards. In
addition, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate
all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of
HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.
2.3.

(2)

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and
the accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7),
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:
(Continued)

J HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with
HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or
loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS
9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

. HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described
in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example
of various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents of
the investor, which removes the inconsistency with the
requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025
226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3. Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards (Continued)

(2) Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and
the accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7),
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:
(Continued)

. HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion
of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.4. Material Accounting Policies

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the
asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025
2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025
226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred
tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it

arises.

2025 F 4R




VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

el uby S

BE2025F3A31HILFE
2. EFBER(E)

24. EXRSHEHEE)
il
ETHBRT A58 ARNEEEEY -

(a) EAATREARZALHNEBREKRE  MZA
=+

() 2 S E RS AR E
(i) HAKEEEATEN @ K

(i) BAEBKASETARIMNEZEIEASR

(b)  AETREBINE TIEF G

ZEREAEHER -—SENKE QT

~
=
X

() —REBAR-REROBEATNNAEL
£(AB-FEBHBAT - HBAARR
FHBAT) :

(i) RERBEAEES/R-—F=7WaELE:

(v —FERAS=HEBNAELE iR
ERAE= I EBOBEAT :

Annual Report 2025

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

2.

Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family

and that person:

®

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

M

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value
over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:
Leasehold land and buildings Over the lease terms of the
leases

Leasehold improvements 20% or over the terms of the

leases, whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 25%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 33%.%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use asset) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.
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226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” for owned property up to the date of
change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” above.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing
the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Retail stores and office properties 1 to 4 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of
the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented in “Investment
properties”.
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226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market rental
rates are initially measured using the market rental rates as at the
commencement date. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are not included in the measurement of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets, and are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

. the lease term has been changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

. the lease payments have been changed due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

(c) Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which includes
both leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless such
allocation cannot be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from the lease component and are
accounted for by applying other applicable standards.
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226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(d) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of retail stores and office properties that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.

(e) Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

(f) Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability less any lease incentives
receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(f) Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Group as a lessor
(a) Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under the fair value model. Variable
lease payments for operating leases that depend on an index or a rate
are estimated and included in the total lease payments to be recognised
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when
they arise.

(b) Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to
allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from the lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continued)

(c) Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

(d) Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the
original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease modifications,
including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part
of the lease payments for the new lease.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest rate method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e. removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual amounts are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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Accounting Policies (Continued)

Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financi
general

al assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
approach and they are classified within the following stages

for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the

simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

— Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

— Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

— Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Credit-impaired

A finan

cial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default

that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of

that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

a)

b)

c)

d)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would

not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation.
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries

are recognised in profit or loss.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, probability of default,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment. In addition, the Group has assessed the lifetime
ECLs for trade receivables individually for each debtor.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.
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226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group classifies financial liabilities that arise from a supplier
finance arrangement within trade and bills payables in the statement
of financial position if they have a similar nature and function to trade
payables. This is the case if the supplier finance arrangement is part
of the working capital used in the Group’s normal operating cycle, the
level of security provided is similar to trade payables and the terms
of the liabilities that are part of the supply chain finance arrangement
are not substantially different from the terms of trade payables that are
not part of the arrangement. Cash flows related to liabilities arising
from supplier finance arrangements that are classified in trade and bills
payables in the statement of financial position are included in operating
activities in the statement of cash flows.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised cost
(trade and other payable, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in profit or loss.
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226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and
measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist
where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs
of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Restoration provisions

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their original
condition, as required by the terms and conditions of the lease, are
recognised at the date of inception of the lease at the directors’ best
estimate of the expenditure that would be required to restore the assets.
Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate for new
circumstances.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

U when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of the reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation

is satisfied, i.e., when “control” of the goods underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good (or a bundle of goods) that
is distinct or a series of distinct goods that are substantially the same.
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at the point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are

incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025
226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.
transfers control of the related goods to the customer).

Customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a customer loyalty programme, where certain
customers accumulate points for purchases made which entitle them to
purchase goods for free or at a discounted price. The customer loyalty
programme gives rise to a separate performance obligation because it
provides a material right to the customer and allocates a portion of the
transaction price to the loyalty credits awarded to customers based on
the relative stand-alone selling price.

The awarded points issued will be carried forward to next fiscal
year end (All awarded points will expire on 31 March of each year).
When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents
the contract in the consolidated statement of financial position as a
contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship
between the Group’s performance and the customer’s payment.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount
of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group transfers the
promised goods to the customer, the Group presents the contract as
a contract liability when the payment is received or a receivable is
recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s
obligation to transfer the promised goods to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right
to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, further details of which are given in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025
226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense
is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting
condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that
all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if
the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of
the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled award
is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes in jurisdictions
other than Chinese Mainland are charged as expenses when employees
have rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when
the group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination
benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring costs involving
the payment of termination benefit.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025
226 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by
the shareholders in a general meeting.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HKS$, which is the
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e. translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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2 Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the HK$. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into HK$ at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their profit or loss is translated into HK$ at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve,
except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interest. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into HK$ at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into HK$ at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

colourmixes MoriMor O V0K Wanko




BEEERERBRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE P mR MR

HE2025F3A31HIEFE

3. ESTHERMAE

MEAEBEPHERRTZEEBIELHE - A RKRE -
ZEHE - BRI RBREFEEER X EERAE
MRESEREMNGRE  URRABBENORE - BHZ
ERBRAFT 2 IEEEATRRERAH A RZTENE
EXBENRAEFEDERFE -

F

EEBASBE S HRENBRES  EEEEEHNLTHE
CFRAGETERSN)  REHEHH NP B RRAERNSH
ELEEATE :

REWFEZFEFE

S ERARFEERAGFEZREMEMELNRTER
FHAEEME ARREREENAKEZRENEAS
WRA

() REBNE L Z R EWEIL SEE BRI EEFEZ
EMEMBEWBARE D KB 2 7 EEAF
BBt RABRKEMREE ZIREYEZER
EFRIER - AAREFDARERAFEEEAGE
ZEEWMEZFEENEBHE2BEE 2 REL
ERERE - ARAKEEA D ERREMERAR
ERFAEH - MU ARETBIZUREEZERED

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that:

@) the Group’s investment properties located in Hong Kong are
not held under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the
Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties located in
Hong Kong, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has
not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
investment properties located in Hong Kong as the Group is
not subject to any income taxes on disposal of its investment
properties.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Continued)

(ii) the Group’s investment properties located in Mainland China
are held under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the
Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties located in
Mainland China, the directors of the Company have determined
whether the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is rebutted and the Group has
recognised deferred tax on changes in fair value of investment
properties on the basis that the deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that will follow from the manner in which the
Group expects at the end of the reporting period to recover the
carrying amount of the investment properties.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets

The Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets are carried at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the management
of the Group has to exercise judgement and make assumptions,
particularly when assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the
case of value in use and the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the value in
use included in the cash flow projections.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets
(Continued)

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belong, including allocation of
corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, otherwise the recoverable amount is determined
at the smallest group of cash-generating units, for which the relevant
corporate assets have been allocated. Changing the underlying
assumptions and key inputs, including but not limited to the forecasted
revenue, gross profit margins and discount rates, in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the estimated recoverable amounts.

As at 31st March, 2025, the carrying amounts of the Identified PPE and
the Identified ROU assets were HK$4,351,000 (2024: HK$5,751,000)
and HK$87,831,000 (2024: HK$125,486,000), respectively. The
recoverable amounts of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU
assets have been determined by the management of the Group using
value in use calculations of the individual retail stores to which
these assets belong. The value in use calculations are based on the
discounted cash flow projections based on management’s expectations
on the market development and the past performance, where the key
input parameters include forecasted revenue, gross profit margins and
discount rates. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of each
retail store as it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
each of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets individually.
During the year ended 31st March, 2025, impairment losses on the
Identified PPE and Identified ROU assets of HK$482,000 (2024:
HK$442,000) and HK$5,495,000 (2024: HK$5,783,000), respectively,
were recognised in profit or loss.

Valuation of investment properties

The fair value of each investment property is individually determined
at each reporting date by independent external valuers based on a
market value assessment.

2025 F 4R
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

Management works closely with the valuers and exercises judgement
to establish the appropriate valuation technique and key inputs to the
model. The key inputs used in determining the fair values of parking
spaces and an industrial property located in Hong Kong include
market observable transactions of similar properties and taking into
account the differences in the location and condition of the investment
properties under the direct comparison approach. The key inputs
used in determining the fair value of the commercial properties in
Hong Kong and industrial properties in Mainland China include
capitalisation rates and monthly market rents per square foot/metre
under income capitalisation approach.

The management considers the valuations of the Group’s investment
properties are the best estimates. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopolitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result of
change in macroeconomic environment, the increased complexity in
international trade tension and geopolitics, changes in policy direction
and/or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties
and the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in profit or loss.

As at 31st March, 2025, the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties amounted to HK$513,552,000 (2024: HK$552,651,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Allowance for inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable values.
Management has determined the allowance for obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items at the end of reporting period with reference to
the inventory ageing analysis, changes in expected market conditions
impacting the demand and pricing and by comparing the carrying
amount of inventories with their estimated net realisable values,
primarily based on the latest selling prices. When estimating the net
realisable value of the inventories, a significant degree of management
judgement, assumptions and estimation are applied. When the net
realisable values of the inventories are lower than expectation, further
allowance may arise.
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3. FEEFHHAERMGE)

stz AREN ()
FHAHE)

M2025F3 A3  FERAB(IKEERES
12,944,000 7T (2024 4F : 18,095,000 7T ) ) 4 120,605,000
FBIT(20244F 106,501,000 7T) ©

4. BEERIEBEER
(a) XX

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Allowance for inventories (Continued)

As at 31st March, 2025, the carrying amount of inventories was
HK$120,605,000 (2024: HK$106,501,000) after netting off the
allowance for inventories of HK$12,944,000 (2024: HK$18,095,000).

4. Revenue and Segment Information

(a) Revenue

B 220253531 HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
SFERAEEAYZ WA Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
(e Br BE
Cosmetics Fashion Total
FHERT FHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
GEEEK] Types of goods
HE S Sale of cosmetics 350,815 - 350,815
B3E M EHE RS Manufacture and sale of ladies fashion - 130,669 130,669
st Total 350,815 130,669 481,484
WA TR B 5 S Timing of revenue recognition
R At point in time 350,815 130,669 481,484
& 35 Geographical markets
BB RORFT Hong Kong and Macau 350,815 130,669 481,484
AR HAit i Other regions of the PRC - - -
st Total 350,815 130,669 481,484
117
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BZE2025F3A3181EFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
4. EEERTSEER(E) 4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)
(a) ®XEE) (a) Revenue (Continued)
B F2024F3H31H L FE For the year ended 31st March, 2024
SIFEREBEEEHNZWA Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
bt iS2 st
Cosmetics Fashion Total
FHET FHET FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R Types of goods
SHEbA M Sale of cosmetics 426,537 = 426,537
B3 R SH & AR Manufacture and sale of ladies fashion = 160,173 160,173
st Total 426,537 160,173 586,710
LON:+4:0] 57 Timing of revenue recognition
R At point in time 426,537 160,173 586,710
& TS Geographical markets
BB RIRM Hong Kong and Macau 426,537 160,147 586,684
R 2 E A3 & Other regions of the PRC - 26 26
st Total 426,537 160,173 586,710

REMBEMBEELAREMS - WARE RIEHIEERZ For sales of ladies fashion to the wholesale market, revenue is

KEA(NERENEEREINEEHE(RMA)) - B recognised when control of the goods has been transferred, being

RfHE - WEEAEERNBRAESHEARNLAEEERNE when the goods have been shipped to the wholesaler’s specific

B REEERRARIEEATALERRERRKRIE location (delivery). Following the delivery, the wholesaler has the full

KHER - EREFEERRRXTEII0REI20X discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods,
has the primary responsibility when selling the goods and bears the
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. The normal
credit term is 60 to 120 days upon delivery.

RRAZTEFTFPHEMARELAEREMS - WARERK For sales of cosmetics products and ladies fashion to retail customers,
ZHIEEEE (IEPREEEEE &R ) R revenue is recognised when control of the goods has been transferred,
ZHBHNREREREFHE S RNEMEEIM - &t being at the point when the customer purchases the goods at the retail
FRAERARAMHERBUHELARETZEREMS - stores. Payment of the transaction price is due immediately at the point
FEEEHAABETREEEREHN0REGCORX ° when the customer purchases the goods. For sales of ladies fashion

to retail customers through sales counters in department stores, the
normal credit term is 30 to 60 days upon the customer purchases the
goods.
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4. HBEBERIEERE)
(a) EXH(E)
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EAGFHEMER -

DRRBPRIERE D BEIEE - b TR F BB 5 A1 B 18
N8R c BREREVMENRIFEEZD BT EMEA
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(a)

There are no transaction prices allocated to the performance

Revenue (Continued)

obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as at the end of
the reporting period.

(b)

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being

Segment information

the chief operating decision makers (“CODM?”), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
the types of goods delivered. The information reported to the CODM
is further categorised into different retail stores within Hong Kong and
Macau, each of which is considered as a separate operating segment
by the CODM. For segment reporting, these individual operating
segments have been aggregated into a single reportable segment. The
Group has presented the following two reportable segments:

(a) the cosmetics segment engages in the sales of cosmetics; and

(b) the fashion segment engages in the manufacture and sale of
ladies fashion.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group’s material accounting policies described in note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable segment loss,
which is a measure of adjusted loss before tax. The adjusted loss before
tax is measured consistently with the Group’s loss before tax except the
change in fair value of investment properties, certain other income and
gains, net, central administration costs, interest expense on bank and
other borrowings and interest on certain lease liabilities.

No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is presented as the CODM
do not review such information for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the prevailing
market prices.

Veeko  wanko
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HZE2025F3A31 R IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
4, EEBRIEER(E) 4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)
(b)y PEER(E) (b) Segment information (Continued)
Vor €Y ET Segment revenue and results
B 220253831 HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
et S DEBE Eig | e
Segment
Cosmetics Fashion total Eliminations Consolidated
TR TEx FTiEx TERr FTEr

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

S REVENUE
HINEE External sales 350,815 130,669 481,484 - 481,484
DREZHE Inter-segment sales - 36 36 (36) -
350,815 130,705 481,520 (36) 481,484
SEER SEGMENT LOSS (32,612) (25,297) (57,909) - (57,909)
REMEATEETE Decrease in fair value of
investment properties (40,918)
Hip g A Rz 58 Other income and gains, net 12,158
HRITHER Central administration costs (5,501)
AR A Finance costs (31,823)
BRI A 18 Loss before tax (123,993)

120
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE
4. EBEERIEER(E)
(b) SEERE)

DR R A (4E)

B E2024F3H31 H L FE

2] REVENUE

HIMEE External sales

SERZEE Inter-segment sales

PEEE SEGMENT LOSS

REMERNTFEBELF Increase in fair value of
investment properties

HpWA R aF 58 Other income and gains, net

RRITERER Central administration costs

VBTN Finance costs

BREL AT AR Loss before tax

colourmixey MORIMOR O

For the year ended 31st March, 2025
4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

et 5SS oy ot 8 )
Segment

Cosmetics Fashion total  Eliminations  Consolidated

THAT FHET FHET THAT TAT

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

426,537 160,173 586,710 - 586,710
- 12 12 (12) -
426,537 160,185 586,722 (12) 586,710
(19,467) (3,618) (23,085) - (23,085)
5,324
12,459
(6,042)
(27,067)
(38,411)
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HZE2025F3A31 R IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
4. EEBERIEER(E) 4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)
by EER(E) (b) Segment information (Continued)
R 5 EEEH Other segment information
fetm 53 PEAH T &8
Segment
Cosmetics Fashion total Corporate  Consolidated
TER TER TR TR TER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
20255 2025
BFEEE/(B%) Provision for/(reversal of) inventories 3,305 (5,211) (1,906) - (1,906)
FEZHE Write-off of inventories 747 755 1,502 - 1,502
EX BREREZNE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 1,861 1,693 3,554 128 3,682
FHEESEZNE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 55,437 36,965 92,402 467 92,869
HEESE  BEREEER Loss on disposal of items of property,
i | plant and equipment 258 22 280 - 280
BARHX Capital expenditure
—E%  BEREH — Property, plant and equipment 1,201 1,302 2,503 - 2,503
—(FRREE - Right-of-use assets 21,371 33,445 60,822 - 60,822
BRIEANZEH Reversal of onerous contracts (569) - (569) - (569)
EX  BRRRE Impairment of property, plant
2R E and equipment 252 230 482 - 482
FREEEZRE Impairment of right-of-use assets 1,661 3,834 5,495 - 5,495

122
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE

4. EXERSEEHE)

(b) DEERE)

E bR HEH (E)

20245

GEZ &G/ (B#)
BEZHE

EX BEREGEINE

EREAEZNE
HEEX  BERREEA
BB/ (Wa)
AARX
—EX  BRERRE
—[EREEE
BRIERNZ
B/ (O8)
EX  HER#E
ZRE
EREAEZRE
ERBSHE BAREER
2B

2024
Provision for/(reversal of) inventories
Write-off of inventories
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Capital expenditure
— Property, plant and equipment
— Right-of-use assets
Provision for/(reversal of)
onerous contracts
Impairment of property, plant
and equipment
Impairment of right-of-use assets
Reversal of expected credit loss
for trade receivables

colourmixey MORIMOR O

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

et 553 DR A7) A
Segment

Cosmetics Fashion total Corporate Consolidated
TEL FET FEL FEL TEL
HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
4,722 (3,735) 987 - 987
1,082 339 1,421 - 1,421
1,367 2,165 3,532 1,347 4,879
52,359 40,657 93,016 121 93,137
18 (293) (275) - (275)

4,041 2,098 6,139 - 6,139
103,253 43,837 147,090 2,337 149,427
443 (129) 314 - 314

421 21 442 - 442
5,403 380 5,783 - 5,783
- (3,381) (3,381) - (3,381)
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HZE2025F3A31 R IEFE

4. EXBRIEEH(E)
(b) DEERGE)

7 AR

AEH BT RBUNEBRRM - REERBIRES
ZWARMER TR EEREERES -

For the year ended 31st March, 2025
4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong
and Macau. Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the geographical locations of

operations.
2025 2024
FHER FHT
HK$°000 HK$’000
B8 KR Hong Kong and Macau 481,484 586,684
B 2 E th 3 = Other regions of the PRC - 26
481,484 586,710

BERAASEFTMNEEZEXEHBRAEERAEEE
HEHETEL0% ©

ARAREEFRDEE(TERERTR)ZERIREE
PrEiR 25 -

No revenue from a customer of the Group contributed over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group for the corresponding years.

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial
instruments) is presented based on the geographical locations of the

assets.
2025 2024
FERT FHT
HK$°000 HK$’000
B8 KR Hong Kong and Macau 527,964 606,739
B 7 E i & Other regions of the PRC 91,302 91,563
[FafE South Korea 217 714
619,483 699,016
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE

5. EHEtbARWEFE

Hetg e A

SRITABUA

EfHsREZMERA

KEHREMEZHSIRA
(BHEAARZH)

Wz R EE
HEEE - WERZEER
2 (E18) ek
RIE N ERE
EREEHZ BB (i)
(Ktit24)
BT E 2 s
RIERE 2 Ug s
PR IETAE Z IR

Hit

For the year ended 31st March,

2025

5. Other Income and Gains, Net

Other income

Bank interest income

Interest income from rental deposits paid

Rental income from investment properties, with
negligible outgoings

Gains, net

(Loss)/gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment, net

Foreign exchange differences, net

Reversal of/(provision for) onerous contract
(note 24)

Gains on modification of leases

Gains on termination of leases

Penalties from tenants for early termination
of leases

Others

colourmixes MoriMor O  VPCK)  Wanko

2025 2024
T s
HK$’000 HKS$’000
1,949 13
1,557 1,224
10,148 11,564
13,654 12,801
(280) 275
41 1,012
569 (314)
48 499
6 755
58 868
1,065 2,138
1,507 5,233
15,161 18,034
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BE2025F3A31HILFE

6. BREiAIERE 6.
EBHBHATEEEGEA), /MR THISEEES

For the year ended 31st March, 2025
Loss Before Tax

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after (crediting)/charging:

126

2025 2024
TR FAT
HK$°000 HK$°000
BEEFEKA Cost of inventories sold 260,720 324,981
E¥ BERREZNE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,682 4,879
FREEEZNERERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets included in:
-BEEMRAR — Cost of goods sold 125 138
- HERDHHAR — Selling and distribution costs 90,183 89,953
-1THER — Administrative expenses 2,561 3,046
92,869 93,137
TEEETEHEEAERN Lease payments not included in the measurement
BERR of lease liabilities 8,549 13,293
ZEEE & Auditors’ remuneration
- ZEURT — audit services 2,110 2,258
- FRERHB — non-audit services 420 392
BETIRMNAZ(AEESHE) Employee benefits expense (including directors’
(Hizzs) : emoluments) (note 8):
HENFE A BRI Salaries and other benefits 115,643 115,701
PARRAD B &R 2 (B Share-based payments 80 155
RNRBH &I 30 Retirement benefit scheme contributions** 6,610 6,518
122,333 122,374
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B ZE2025F3 A31H IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025

6. BRBAIEE(E) 6. Loss Before Tax (Continued)
2025 2024
TER FET
HK$°000 HK$°000
HIE R Foreign exchange differences, net (41) (1,012)
EWE 5508 BHERER 2 B1# Reversal of expected credit loss for trade receivables - (3,381)
EX¥  BERSEZRE Impairment of property, plant and equipment 482 442
EREEERE Impairment of right-of-use assets 5,495 5,783
FEZ(B#),/ Bl (Reversal of)/provision for inventories* (1,906) 987
&2 MR+ Write-off of inventories* 1,502 1,421
BiREEN2 (BE) /s (Reversal of)/provision for onerous contracts (569) 314
BEMEANTEBEZZEFHE Change in fair value of investment properties, net 40,918 (5,324)

HEEE BERREBEEZEE/ Loss/(gains) on disposal of items of property,

(Mez) plant and equipment 280 (275)

3 FAFERE RERERFEZBEHAKRARS @
REMEBERARZ [HEXRAK]A -

i AEEFEREEZLEDZKERAHBAURDR i

Scrap, shrinkage and provision for slow-moving inventories for

the year are included in “cost of goods sold” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group

BZHEFOKFE - as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.
7. & B A Yo Finance Costs
2025 2024
FEx FHT
HK$’000 HK$°000
RITEERNT SR Interest expense on bank borrowings 15,605 25,917
HEBBENFERX Interest expense on lease liabilities 8,111 7,778
REEFERNFERAEZ Interest expense on loans from directors 16,065 1,110
39,781 34,805
127
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HZE2025F3A31 R IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
8. EERTHARZMNE 8.  Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration

BIEETRE  FBRAFEHIZE383(1)(a) ~ (b) * (¢) R(E)E Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
RAR(BREERNEER) ROIE 2B ERE 2 FRNEE RT pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
ARSI T the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is

as follows:
20055 2025
HiTESE)
Executive director "¢
HERZL b0
(TheR); g3
Ms.Lam  Non-executive BUkHTES S
BETEE Yuk Sum  director " Independent non-executive director ™?
Mr. Cheng (Chief  MXMEE BEEEXLE BYELE EEi s BXELE
Chung Man, Executive Mr.Lam  Mr. Au-Yeung  Mr. Cheng Man Ms. Lau Mr. Yeung At
Johnny Officer)" ManTin ~ Hau Cheong  Loong, Monty Sze Tung Wing Kay Total
FiEn TiEn TiEn FiEn FiEn FiEn FiEn TiEn
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
(Witd) (Hiie)
(note d) (note e)
e Fees - - 130 130 130 38 106 534
Eftie Other emoluments
oL e Salaries and allowances 1,560 660 - - - - - 2,220
RIVERIFHEIRE S Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 18 3 - - - - - 49
et Total emoluments 1,578 091 130 130 130 38 106 2,803
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

8. EERTHARZME(E) 8.  Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration
(Continued)
2245 2024
HiEFme
Executive director "
HERRL FEHT
(f7mgast) g
Ms.Lam  Non-executive By TE S
gEviE Yuk Sum  director *) Independent non-executive director /)
Mr. Cheng (Chief wussE  BRESRE gxEkE BRERE
Chung Man, Executive Mr.Lam  Mr. Au-Yeung  Mr. ChengMan Mr. Yeung At
Johnny Officer)’ Man Tin Hau Cheong ~ Loong, Monty Wing Kay Total
Tt TAL T FEL T T ThAL
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$’000 HKS’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Hiite)
(note e)
Be Fees - - 130 130 130 150 540
e Other emoluments
HE R Salaries and allowances 1,560 660 - - - - 2,220
RINEFIEEIES Retirement benefit
scheme contributions 18 31 - - - - 49

Heds Total emoluments 1,578 691 130 130 130 150 2,809

& MERKEMAERRRTRAE R ERBEEERZ & Ms. Lam Yuk Sum is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Bl € BIEREETRARR IR 2 R - Company and her emoluments disclosed above included those

services rendered by her as the Chief Executive Officer.

Kt Notes:

(a) ERIARZATESNE T ERBEETEARAR G KA (a) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
S EE 552 MERE AR 1 A - their services in connection with the management of the affairs of

the Company and the Group.

(b) ERARZIRTEERBIFNTEEHES EEN (b) The non-executive director’s and independent non-executive
BEEERRTES 2 RIS EN o directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services

as directors of the Company.

(c) B ZE2025F R2024F3 A31 B IEFE - AEBWER (c) During the years ended 31st March, 2025 and 2024, no emoluments
BERTHRARSNME  (FREMAREEZFH were paid by the Group to the directors and the Chief Executive
SKEBERCHRI(E o LEON  TRARIEMNESHENEE Officer as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
2025%F % 202463 A31 H IFFEREEMBE ° as compensation for loss of office. In addition, neither the Chief

Executive Officer nor any of the directors waived any emoluments
during the years ended 31st March, 2025 and 2024.

(d) G AL R2024F 12 A 14 B EZERBILIFHNITE (d) Ms. Lau Sze Tung was appointed as an independent non-executive
Fo director on 15th December, 2024.

(e) KRS ER2024F 12 B 14BBHERB I IFITES © (e) Mr. Yeung Wing Kay resigned as an independent non-executive

colourmMixey MORIMOR O

director on 15th December, 2024.
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HZE2025F3A31 R IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
9. IHuUEEHEES 9.  Five Highest Paid Employees

RAFEERN ' SUEE#HALTBEIN(2024F : 1) AR During the year, the five highest paid individuals included one (2024:

AIEE  AEEMSHFEERN L XXMEES - 82 T4462(2024 one) director of the Company, whose emoluments are set out in note 8

F M) FERFATHNSAT above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2024: four) highest paid
individuals are as follows:

2025 2024
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000

e UBRHAEB ZENE Salaries, share-based payment and
Hith {8 7 other benefits 3,440 3,518
BRI AR 2 SRR IR Performance related incentive payments 28 -
BIRERE B Retirement benefit scheme contributions 69 72
3,537 3,590

MeBR TIBENFEFRIIFETRZTHRAERSFEE The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid

ABOT ¢ employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:
BEAR
Number of employees
2025 2024
Z % 1,000,000/ 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 4 4

HZE2025F N2024F3H31BIEFE » KEBEWE M L5067 During the years ended 31st March, 2025 and 2024, no emoluments

BT ALTEZNME - EREMAKRE B 255 E kBB were paid by the Group to these five highest paid individuals as an

& inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

10. FIEH 10. Income Tax
2025 2024
FHEx FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$°000
BIER— &8 Current — Hong Kong
RNFFERR Charge for the year 369 572
BEFEEETR Underprovision in prior years 283 =
652 572
BUEA — Efh Rl ERE R Current — Other jurisdictions
AEEMX Charge for the year 92 )
BAEERERNE,(BEEE) Underprovision/(overprovision)
in prior years 79 (69)
171 an
IEEFLIE (AT 2F25) Deferred tax (note 25) (49) 1,131
774 1,632

BRAEE-—HBARAFNEHMAH THEEARESR
SN RIBFRRBABELEZ A TERTEF1£16.5% (2024
F165%) 2R EBERTENEH - ZMBARNSE
2,000,000 7T (20244F : 2,000,000 7T ) & 22 15 % K1/328.25%
(20244 : 8.25%) MOFR R B + M8k T FEER TR A B4R
16.5% (20245 : 16.5% ) FOF BT ©

ETHRBRAEEZHBARERIZ%(2024F 1 12%) i X
BRI ER - HDNEFHEEREERUMEHBARE -
AN RELZE 20255 20243 A31 8 IEFE - FFRIFTSM
EBREERETUET  EEBRET  ERBRANE
i 28 4 600,00032 P98 (18 5 12 582,000 7T ) + #8 600,000
SEPT S (PB4 582,0007% 7T ) 9  F1 BIl 4% [E] 78 B 3 12% (2024
F 0 12%)HF -

BE(REAREIMBCEMESFENTEEMEHE]) R
TEMSFEERMA - PEMEB AR 2K E25% (2024
F 125%) °

colourmMixey MORIMOR O

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2024:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a
qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
first HK$2,000,000 (2024: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of
this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2024: 8.25%) and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%).

Certain subsidiaries operating in Macau are subject to Macau
complementary tax of 12% (2024: 12%), subject to finalisation of
the tax liability with the relevant tax authority. In addition, for the
years ended 31st March, 2025 and 2024, a special complementary tax
incentive was provided to the effect that the tax-free income threshold
was Macau Pataca (“MOP”’) 600,000 (equivalent to HK$582,000) with
profit above MOP600,000 (equivalent to HK$582,000) being taxed at a
fixed rate of 12% (2024: 12%).

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) (the “EIT
Law”) and the Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2024: 25%).
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HZE2025F3A31 R IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
10. FBH(E) 10. Income Tax (Continued)

AREEZHEHBEYTHESEBEREMEEKAEXE BT The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss
BIEIE AT - before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

2025 2024
FHET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
BBt AT B 18 Loss before tax (123,993) (38,411)
BEBTISHRIBER16.5%TENHIEA Tax at the Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% (20,459) (6,338)
HAREMREERMNERZ Effect of different tax rates applicable to
TRFRZ ZE operations in other jurisdictions 186 407
PEIEM S AR A 2 RIETE Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
purposes 8,107 1,816
PRIEM s EARRWA 2 RIEFE Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (50) (3,446)
B e Al MR HERR 2 THIE & 18 Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised (1,330) (151)
M ARTER 2 FIAEE 2 FiIa e & Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 14,346 10,495
M ATERZ AR E R ERR Tax effect of deductible temporary
MIERE difference not recognised 34 (909)
AR HAR R BN AR 1R Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous
periods 107 (69)
RS RS, iz a2 Tax effect of the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime/tax exemption (167) (173)
REF MG L Income tax expense for the year 774 1,632
11. KRE 11. Dividends

EFESTERRMNEZ2025F3A31 B L FEEMARBARS The board of directors did not recommend the payment of any final
(20244 : /&) dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2025 (2024: nil).
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE

12. BREE

EREABEBESENIBBERFAS AR L AESEA A
FEAL 4 N E5 18 124,767,000 7% 7T (2024 5 40,043,0007% 7T )
K& B B 17 A% 0 4 29 £02,518,001,334 A% (2024 F :
2,518,001,334f%)5TH -

HARE E2025F K2024F3 A31 B L FE 2 BREFER
ZETERTEBRAARIZERESETE  BRITFEZ
SRRENE  SREBBESHD  REEHEE2025F R
20243 A31H I FE 27 MG IREAREIE £ R IE L E(#

13. ®REYHE

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

12. Loss Per Share

The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is based on the loss
for the year of HK$124,767,000 (2024: HK$40,043,000) attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 2,518,001,334 (2024: 2,518,001,334) in issue

during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amounts
presented for the years ended 31st March, 2025 and 2024 in respect
of dilution as the calculation of diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31st March, 2025 and 2024 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options since their assumed exercise would result in

a decrease in loss per share.

13. Investment Properties

2025 2024
FERT FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
f==27) At the beginning of the year 552,651 472,456
HOEX  WEREEMNZ) Transferred from property, plant and equipment
(note) 1,057 78,200
e S E (M) Transferred from right-of-use assets (note) 1,649 -
RIERFHERZAFEE Net (decrease)/increase in fair value recognised
E(TFE),/ EF in profit or loss (40,918) 5,324
P& 3 3 28 Exchange realignment (887) (3,329)
FR At the end of the year 513,552 552,651
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BE2025F3A31HILFE

13. REWE(E)

Hfat - REZE2025F3H31AIEEFE - BREED 7 A433,000
7570 (2024 4F 18,032,000 7T ) & 132,000 7t (2024
FEURERIAEE  BERIEZIEDER
EIAEREEEZRBT EARCEBREREY
¥ -BREE BELREARGTHELEZAFE
Bz D Bl /624,000 7T (2024 4F : 60,168,000 IT )
1,517,000 7 (2024 5 : ) (KR IELEFE S 5l
156,000/ 70 (20244 : #8) }2379,00074 7T (2024 5 :
&) REREAREMEEBARER -

ZEMENEBE BAMERITERIR R EHTT
REFERFEAGRRRARBERAE R EMKE -

ARBEZEEMEMURBEN BT X AERNZAE
i UREBNEAYERMCRFTEALREENET LT
ENFE - AEARKRRESR A RENEERNMFE
ZHENEERONBAFBERNGE Lo BERIIME
BEME -

NEBLEYER20255F % 2024F3 A31 B 2 AFEET
BRI AEEY ERE Y B AL RBEGEM P ST
BRARRMEHTEETERBAETRARETZIEE
FTE ZEREREREE I MELEEGEE ERRE
B MEBRITARARRMERITOETHREANBRA
AABBIEMSEEE -

Annual Report 2025

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

13. Investment Properties (Continued)

Note: During the year ended 31st March, 2025, the industrial properties

previously included in property, plant and equipment and the
relevant land use rights included in right-of-use assets with
carrying values of HK$433,000 (2024: HK$18,032,000) and
HK$132,000 (2024: nil), respectively, were transferred to
investment properties. The fair value gains on transfer of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of HK$624,000 (2024:
HK$60,168,000) and HK$1,517,000 (2024: nil), net of deferred tax
charges of HK$156,000 (2024: Nil) and HK$379,000 (2024: nil),
respectively, were recognised in other comprehensive income on
the date of transfer.

The properties were valued by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited (“JLL”)
and Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited
(“JLLCAA”) based on the income capitalisation approach at the
date of transfer.

The investment properties of the Group represents the parking spaces
in an industrial building located in Hong Kong, commercial properties
located in Hong Kong and certain industrial properties located in
Mainland China and Hong Kong. All of the Group’s properties
interests held to earn rental and/or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted
for as investment properties.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31st March,
2025 and 2024 have been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out on that date by JLL and JLLCAA, independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group and possessing the
appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties
in the relevant locations. JLL and JLLCAA are members of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors.
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE
REME(E

HEDRADERLBE (RN EBEAEM K TEYX)
K 2) WA BAALE (R R BB R R AL F B At
M TEWE)ETE

13.

BEEEBERBRBLUDERTZ LABELZRS @ T2R
R BEMEZ M ERAMRZ ZEM LT -

WAEAOER BRI BB HEZ A 0RO S AR
REA  ARBHERERZEFTHES - REER
RAMGERMLEES)

RIEFTMERFEER - NERSERERERESEE
Al % e

BEELEBE

FHEHBEMNEERAZER —BEEG ASURAELH
BT S AT EE 2 BT T 1,480,000/ 7T 2 3,000,000
BT (20244 1,568,000/ 7T 24,350,000/ 7T ) 15 ©

HE N BN TEMEBEARAZEFT —HEEHA
BRABUMERNIS EAIBRZERN TEFE 5 R4,485
BILET T HRE,5438 78 (20245 : BFHR4,574B L E
FFEHR6,5378I0) TE o

MNREBEAEM TS ERRTENELZ BT HTRER
£ BERUREBRREMN R TEYELFEMEL
T RZIA
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

13. Investment Properties (Continued)

The valuations were determined using 1) the direct comparison
approach for parking spaces and an industrial property located in
Hong Kong and 2) the income capitalisation approach for commercial
properties located in Hong Kong and industrial properties located in
Mainland China.

The direct comparison approach reflects market observable
transactions for similar properties, mainly adjusted for differences in
the location and condition of the investment properties.

The income capitalisation approach reflects the rental income of
contractual tenancy capitalised for the unexpired terms of tenancy and
the reversionary market rent after expiry of tenancy in capitalisation.
There have been no changes to the valuation technique used during the
years.

When estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the properties is considered to be their current use.

Direct comparison approach

One of the key inputs used when valuing the parking spaces was
the market observable price of similar parking spaces which ranged
from HK$1,480,000 to HK$3,000,000 (2024: HK$1,568,000 to
HK$4,350,000).

One of the key inputs used in valuing the industrial property located in
Hong Kong was the market observable price per square foot of similar
properties which ranged from HK$4,485 per square foot (“sq.ft.”)
to HK$6,543 per sq.ft. (2024: HK$4,574 per sq.ft. to HK$6,537 per
sq.ft.).

The increase in the market prices of the parking spaces and the price
per square foot of industry properties located in Hong Kong would
result in an increase in the fair value of the parking spaces and the
industrial property located in Hong Kong respectively, and vice versa.
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BE2025F3A31HILFE

13. REWHE(E)

WAERLE

AN EEZERYEBEMA 2 AP MIEE E6H AR

EANEARLEEE2.9%(20245F 1 2.5%) )T EAREFEH
R24278 7T (20244F : 25078 7T) °

SRR BE Ay TEMEBEMAZETMEEER
AEIEB)EREE R5% (20244 : 5%) R2)BFHKZH
BAENFARK2TE ARG (20245 : AR 21T
ZARMB6C0T) T E -

AERELENEFALT  SEBZEHARTEDEZR
FEETE  R2RA - MSFIR/ORzHEAENE
A EARSERZEIRRIENELATEELA &
2R ©

R2025F R 2024F3A31H - REBZIEEMEE FHEA
AT EBEBRERNEIE -

RAFERN - WS E 2 6 A5 80K -

N2 B B K R 48 {8 454,218,000 7T, (2024 4F : 552,651,00078

T ZIREE  AREAEBMERTH—RRITERES (K
£29) o

Annual Report 2025

For the year ended 31st March, 2025
13. Investment Properties (Continued)

Income capitalisation approach

Two of the key inputs used in valuing the commercial properties
located in Hong Kong were 1) the capitalisation rate of 2.9% (2024:
2.5%) and 2) the monthly market rent of 242 (2024: HK$250) per
sq.ft..

Two of the key inputs used in valuing the industrial properties located
in Mainland China were 1) the capitalisation rate of 5% (2024: 5%)
and 2) the monthly market rent ranging from RMB22 to RMB60 (2024:
RMB21 to RMB60) per square metre.

Any increase in the capitalisation rate would result in a decrease in the
fair value of the commercial and industrial properties, and vice versa
and, any increase in the monthly market rent per square foot/meter
would result in an increase in the fair value of the commercial and
industrial properties, and vice versa.

The Group’s investment properties are categorised within level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy as at 31st March, 2025 and 2024.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.
The Group has pledged investment properties with a total of

HK$454,218,000 (2024: HK$552,651,000) to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

colourmixes MoriMor O V0K Wanko




BEBERERERAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE P mR MR

HE2025F3A31HIEFE

14. EX- BEKRRZRE

RAE
R03F4R1R
A%

hE

e
ERRENE

2043 B318 202454 A1H
EiA%

hE

L&

EERANE

R2025%38318

EitTERAE

R023F4A1A
EiA%
Enf
REEE

HE /R
EERENE

20438318 202454 A1H
B A%

ERiE

REEE

HE/HEERS

ERRENE

R202553A318

REFE
R25F3A31R

R204F3 B3I

COST

At Ist April, 2023

Exchange realignment

Additions

Disposals

Transferred to investment properties

At 31st March, 2024 and Ist April, 2024
Exchange realignment

Additions

Disposals

Transferred to investment properties

At 31st March, 2025

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT

At It April, 2023

Exchange realignment

Provided for the year

Impairment loss

Eliminated on disposals/write-off

Transferred to investment properties

At 315t March, 2024 and Ist April, 2024
Exchange realignment

Provided for the year

[mpairment loss

Eliminated on disposals/write-off
Transferred to investment properties

At 31st March, 2025

NET CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31st March, 2025

At 31st March, 2024
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

gL g
REF BrEE  HERME  BAREE  BOERE AE &
Leasehold
landand  Leasehold Plantand Furniture and Office Motor
buildings improvements  machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
T T T TR T T TR
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
71,003 75,129 20,804 59,121 23,507 6,016 255,586
(855) (307) (890) (73) 22 22) (2,169)
- 4,582 - 749 808 - 6,139
- (4,153) 23) (1,546) (195) (3,007) (8,924)
(33,666) - - - - - (33,666)
36,482 75,051 19,891 58,057 24,098 2987 216,966
(189) (102) (211) (17 (11 () (533)
- 1,539 2 34 561 - 2,503
- 9,327 (100) (4,560) (110) (484) (14,381)
(774) - - - - - (774)
35,519 67,361 19,609 54,054 24,538 2,498 203,579
37,887 72,978 20,725 58,587 23,164 5,893 219,234
(348) (282) (887) (63) (19) 22) (1,621)
1811 2,070 60 344 471 123 4879
- 4 - 118 - - 442
- (4,087) 23) (1,539) (195) (3,007) (8,851)
(15,634) - - - - - (15,634)
23,116 71,003 19,875 51447 2341 2,987 198,449
(83) (100) (210) (16) (11 () (425)
576 2,302 20 31 473 - 3,682
- V)] - 60 - - 482
- (9,075) (100) (4,501) (110) (484) (14,270)
(341) - - - - - (341)
23,868 64,352 19,585 53,301 23,113 2,498 187,577
11,651 2,809 u 753 765 - 16,002
12,766 4,48 16 810 677 - 18,517
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BE2025F3A31HILFE
4. E¥ BRERREE)

AEE 2 ME L REFANEERTERM -

N4 [E 2 4K 4R BR TE (E5,181,00078 7T (2024 4F : 12,766,000
L) ZHELHRIEF - LIS AERER TH—RIBITE
1= (ff3E29) »

RELZE2025F3 A31 B IEFE © AREE433,0007% 7T (2024
F 118,032,0008 ) 2 HEL M REFEHEB IR EYE
BB E 1) 3 M #5.624,00078 7T (20244F © 60,168,00078 7T ) A
N FRRR IR TR B X £156,000(2024 5 : T )R H b 2w
AHHER ©

ERACER BMERKBEUARERGZ
EREEE 2R A
ERFEEETEEEHIRARE - SEERABRE
PRI BE A RRPIFTE T & R TR A -

AR e AaT —HENEENAKRESE @ AIASES
AREEEMBNECEABEMNAIKEESE BeEE
BAMAIKESEEREERAEBESEETE - ZEFHERE
REREAEEEREMZZBERAZRESRETENR - WK
EHTHES - R2025F3 A3 BOBATITREN T5F
13.4%%13.8% (20245 : BF13.9% = 14.4%) % - FEA &
EEREMNEDNER2ZHEMBSERITEEHZBER
WMETE °

Annual Report 2025

For the year ended 31st March, 2025
14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings are located in Hong Kong
and Mainland China.

The Group has pledged leasehold land and buildings with a carrying
value of HK$5,181,000 (2024: HK$12,766,000) to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, leasehold land and buildings
with a carrying value of HK$433,000 (2024: HK$18,032,000) were
transferred to investment properties, resulting in a gain on revaluation
of properties of HK$624,000 (2024: HK$60,168,000), and the
related deferred tax charge of 156,000 (2024: nil) recognised in other

comprehensive income.

Impairment assessment of the Identified PPE and the
Identified ROU assets

Giving the underperformance of the Group’s certain retail stores,
management concluded there was an indication for impairment and
performed impairment assessment for all retail stores in Hong Kong
and Macau.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belong when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually. The recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculations using cash flow projections based on forecasts approved
by the management of the Group covering the remaining lease terms
with a pre-tax discount rate ranging from 13.4% to 13.8% per annum
(2024: 13.9% to 14.4% per annum) as at 31st March, 2025. The
forecasted revenue and gross profit margin have been determined
with reference to the expected market development and the past
performance of the retail stores.
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE
4. E¥ RBRERRXEE)

ERAZEEX BERZBEUREHEAZ
FEREEEZRENMHE)
BEEEREHRIZESE BRERZEARE#HRZERE
B E 2 IR El & B TR E AT Al (R AR B o R BT AR 15 T
7) - HEEEED B A4,351,00078 78 (20244 : 5,751,000
JL ) 587,831,000 JT (2024 & © 125,486,00058 7T.) * &30
B 2T E RREFBIE D B A161,211,00078 7T (2024 6 -
171,746,0007% 7T ) 52.599,031,0005% 7T (2024 4 : 539,880,000
EIT) °

BETEER  AEEEEERRE THEEEEMMNT
WESFEENEEEEREE - BRESEEIEZEEHNZ
EX BERKEBREZAIZ2EAEEEZSEER - A
FEEEERINEEETEWREENEFRER - A
FEERLERARZCBREZERE - BEFEREE
AERSE  EXREREHINZEE BERZBHERE
Rz E A E 2 FREE 2R B & 18 %5482,0007 7T (2024
F 1 442,0005%8 7T ) 55,495,000 7T (2024 F : 5,783,000
JT) °

For the year ended 31st March, 2025
14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Impairment assessment of the Identified PPE and the
Identified ROU assets (Continued)

Management conducted impairment assessment on the recoverable
amounts of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets
as disclosed in this note and note 15, with carrying amounts
of HK$4,351,000 (2024: HK$5,751,000) and HK$87,831,000
(2024: HK$125,486,000), net of accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses of HK$161,211,000 (2024: HK$171,746,000) and
HK$599,031,000 (2024: HK$539,880,0000), respectively.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the
Group determined that the recoverable amounts of certain cash-
generating units are lower than the corresponding carrying amounts.
The impairment amount has been allocated to each category of the
Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets such that the carrying
amount of each category of asset is not reduced below the highest of
its value in use, fair value less cost of disposal and zero. Based on
the value in use calculations and the allocation, impairment losses
of HK$482,000 (2024: HK$442,000) and HK$5,495,000 (2024:
HK$5,783,000) have been recognised against the carrying amounts of
the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets, respectively.
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4. E¥ BRERREE)

CHBlcER BERRKBEUREREE 2
EREEE 2 RERE (&)

HETHRETF  REREBFEIINNEE L REBER
2025 R2024F3 A31 B EFAR - REAEE i kg
FORERBEBEIIBE L 2 A FEERDEKAH
SERNEREE -

15. &

REBEEREBAA

REEAABRGEERIINEELW(RERARS0F) - —
BEFRRCHEARN  REZSFTHWAENGR - BER
B -

AEBEAREEFANZSETEEH  HAEWERA
BENHAEAN TEEMERNAESMENRPERT 5124
F (20245 123F) - MAENHAEBBERIZSF - —RM
S ASERAAAREMIINTEBERHBHEEEE -
BRFEE TR SCHEEEMITEHENTNAES
4 BREAFISE—LmulT o

HEGRTDIZ BRI EERER - W8S PREREGES - R
EEHERRFEIIEENENRER  AEERAS
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Impairment assessment of the Identified PPE and the
Identified ROU assets (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the leasehold land and buildings, motor
vehicles and leasehold land outside Hong Kong as at 31st March, 2025
and 2024 have not been reduced since the amounts of fair value less
costs of disposal of the leasehold land and buildings, motor vehicles
and leasehold land outside Hong Kong are higher than their carrying
amounts.

15. Leases

Group as a lessee

Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leasehold land
outside Hong Kong from the owners with lease periods of 50 years, and
no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land leases.

The Group has lease contracts for various items of retail stores, office
properties and motor vehicles in its operations. Leases of retail stores
and office properties generally have lease terms between 1 and 4 years
(2024: between 1 and 3 years), while motor vehicles generally have
lease terms between 4 to 5 years. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.
There are several lease contracts that include extension options and
variable lease payments, which are further discussed below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.
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AE(BREREEEET ZHE)

MEz&IE

TERX

B R 2R EEE

7202443 A31H
K2024F481H

ARE(BIEREHEEETZAZE)

HEZ®&IE
FEMX
ERERZRERE
BERERAME

A2025%F3831H

20253 A31H @ A& EE EHIREES37,0007 7T (2024
& 12,362,000/ 70 ) EFREEE - UIBAERERTH

—RRIRTTEAS (B 5E29) ©

REZE2025F3 318 LEEFE -

BHRERMEERAFER -

colourmMixey MORIMOR O

AAAFEAEEERREE
#3132,00078 7T (20245 « &) 2 T FAEE BB EHREY
¥ FRAEEEZATFEEKE1,517,0007% 7T (2024 F :
42 ) A M AERIE AL R TE B 50 379,00078 7T (2024 4F « 48 ) B A=

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

15. Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

At Ist April, 2023

Exchange realignment

Additions (including adjustments
arising from lease modification)

Termination of leases

Depreciation charge

Impairment loss recognised

At 31st March, 2024
and 1st April, 2024
Exchange realignment
Additions (including adjustments
arising from lease modification)
Termination of leases
Depreciation charge
Impairment loss recognised
Transferred to investment
properties

At 31st March, 2025

BEREING TEEHR
HELH WRAEYE RE st
Leasehold Retail stores
land outside and office Motor
Hong Kong  properties Vehicles Total
FAET FAT FHT FHT
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
2,584 78,425 - 81,009
(111) (35) - (146)
- 146,096 3,331 149,427
- (3,522) - (3,522)
(111) (92,853) (173) (93,137)
- (5,783) - (5,783)
2,362 122,328 3,158 127,848
24) 41) - (65)
- 60,822 - 60,822
- (180) - (180)
(108) (92,045) (716) (92,869)
- (5,495) - (5,495)
(132) - - (132)
2,098 85,389 2,442 89,929

As at 31st March, 2025, the Group has pledged right-of-use assets
with a carrying value of HK$537,000 (2024: HK$2,362,000) to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, the land use rights included
in right-of-use assets with a carrying amount of HK$132,000 (2024:
nil) were transferred to investment properties. The fair value gain
of right-of-use assets of HK$1,517,000 (2024: nil), and the related

deferred tax charge of HK$379,000 (2024: nil) were recognised in
other comprehensive income at the date of transfer.
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15. #HE(#&) 15. Leases (Continued)

REBEARBAE) Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) (L E (&) (a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

RAREE » 5,495,0007% 7T (20244 : 5,783,000/8 7T ) Z B (A During the year, impairment of HK$5,495,000 (2024: HK$5,783,000)
BERRE B2 ERAEEE - HFtBENME14 - was recognised on the Identified ROU assets, details of which are

included in note 14.

(b) HEBE (b)  Lease liabilities
RAFE  HEAEMNRAENRESNAT - The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the

year are as follows:

2025 2024
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
F4) At the beginning of the year 138,611 91,069
PE 5 A% Exchange realignment (47) (37)
e New leases 8,383 45,682
RAREERER 2 F IR Accretion of interest recognised during
the year 8,111 7,778
= Payments (104,112) (101,421)
EEEET Lease modification 51,056 95,540
FR At the end of the year 102,002 138,611
DR : Analysed into:
TREIER D Current portion 64,544 78,103
ERB D Non-current portion 37,458 60,508
102,002 138,611
142
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15. HE(#E)

REBEREBAGE)

(b) HEBE(E)
HEABEZHBRIIAT

1F AR
F2F
FIEFSF(RIEEEME)

ERANEERBENMEFEESERFN XN F485%=

7.82%(20244F : 2.46%%7.81% ) "% ©

BEREEERYEEE NI EEAENEEREIH

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

15. Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b)

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:

Lease liabilities (Continued)

2025 2024

THET FHET

HK$°000 HK$’000

Within one year 64,543 78,103
In the second year 31,344 57,678
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 6,115 2,830
102,002 138,611

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease
liabilities range from 4.85% to 7.82% (2024: 2.46% to 7.81%) per
annum.

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other than the

I functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
IT HKS$ 7,091 6,349
(c) RIEEFERNHEEBSBAOT (c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are
as follows:
2025 2024
TR FET
HK$’000 HK$°000
HEBGEFE Interest on lease liabilities 8,111 7,778
FRAEEERTERX Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 92,869 93,137
BTS2z K Gains on modification of leases (48) (499)
LIERE 2 W Gains on termination of leases (6) (755)
AT HATE BB R A Expense relating to short-term leases* 7,485 10,903
Tt AHEAE8 2 A &M ENZ*  Variable lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities* 1,064 2,390
EREEE ZRE Impairment of right-of-use assets 5,495 5,783
114,970 118,737

@ ZERBFAGRBaREMEEBARZ [HERD *

SHRKAR A

These items are included in “Selling and distribution costs” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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15. #HE(E) 15. Leases (Continued)
AEBIERBEBAE) Group as a lessee (Continued)
(d) ALHEFEHE (d) Extension options

AREBRZETERHEAEEATEHEIERE - Z5RER The Group has extension options in a number of leases for retail

TRRSERARBEREMBEETAHNEERREES stores.
BA - AREEFENAR DT REEET HETE - 8 managi

There are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
ng the assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of

FALEATEITE - extension options held are exercisable only at the option of the Group
and not by the respective lessors.

AEERHERB BT HEET S EMBEESTHELE The Group assesses at the lease commencement date whether it is
2 o reasonably certain to exercise the extension options.

R2025F % 2024F3A31H - AEEWERESEHETES As at 31st March, 2025 and 2024, there are no extension options in
1T 2 SEERIE 124 - which the Group is not reasonably certain to exercise.

(e) AEBBEAZRTEERRENR  EFESERA (e)
SETEFEHNEERENEBENFER - TX
REERASBENEZEENRNER - BEARE

The Group leases a number of retail stores and premises
which contain variable lease payment terms that are based
on the Group’s turnover generated from the retail stores.

B R The following provides information on the Group’s variable
lease payments, including the magnitude in relation to fixed
payments:

B e CIE-IoE st
Fixed payments Variable payments Total
FHT FAT FAT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
2025 2025
EEH® Fixed rents 7,485 - 7,485
Er#HEe Variable rents only - 1,064 1,064
FE Total 7,485 1,064 8,549
20244 2024
Eifrakizkens Fixed rents 10,903 = 10,903
ErEgfAe Variable rents only = 2,390 2,390
st Total 10,903 2,390 13,293
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15. HE(#E)

REBEREBAGE)

() HEMR SR HAERGA BT RRMEE28(0)F 1E
HAREE o

AEEER/HAA

AEBEAEREREHERFFEERLEIFHIEE
REEOIKEME (MFE13) - BENEBHIE (20244 :
9ofE]) JAEE L K 51 (20245 : STE) 4 55 A R AL A b B g3 9 —
B2 02518 (2024 4F 2018) BB - MEBF—REREL
AR S

AEFNRANEEERHES YA A10,148,00078 7T (20244 -
11,564,000/ 70) *© B BH RS M ISHREMES ©

Fifs B 2 MEHE A AHEHEN Toffl A 255 (20244 3@
RESF)PZHEF « RAREHR  AEBERARRAFR
BRI REE G S H S e B H P WERE AR T B A & R~ R
T

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

15. Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(f) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 28(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 13) consisting of 9
(2024: 9) carparks and 5 (2024: 5) properties located in Hong Kong
and 25 (2024: 20) portions of a property located in Mainland China
held to be leased under operating lease arrangements or held for capital
appreciation. The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to
pay security deposits.

Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
HK$10,148,000 (2024: HK$11,564,000), details of which are included
in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

All of the properties held have committed tenants with terms that
ranged from 6 months to 5 years (2024: 3 months to 5 years). At the end
of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases
with its tenants are as follows:

2025 2024
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$°000
1R Within one year 8,973 8,802
FoF In the second year 4,386 6,336
FE3F In the third year 972 2,341
F45F In the fourth year 691 38
F5F In the fifth year 537 -
15,559 17,517

16. FANRERHAMERRE 16. Prepayments and Other Receivables
2025 2024
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$°000
SEENE S Prepayments 5,077 3,375
At fE YR IE (B A7) Other receivables (note) 3,663 2,320
8,740 5,695

HiaE - Note:

BT bl 4 AR ) & Bh A R B3 HA N AR G AR A 8% K 8 HA < FE MY FE
g%”klﬁ'ﬁﬁa o 7A2025%F }202453 H31 8 » EIE BB KT B

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default and past due amounts. As at
31st March, 2025 and 2024, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.
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16. FENRBERHEMEWREGE

et - (&)

REBEREIN T MEERQ R ZHELR$300,000% 7T (2024
F :300,000870)  HAARREEREERHES - EHEEHE

BB WRRERER -

17. ®E

R
SR A

18. BWEZFMIR

FEUE 5 IR
RERRF R

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

Trade receivables

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

16. Prepayments and Other Receivables (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

The amount included a rental deposit paid to a related company of
HK$300,000 (2024: HK$300,000), which is beneficially owned by the
substantial shareholder of the Company. The balance is interest-free and
repayable on demand.

17. Inventories

2025 2024
FBT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
2,060 3,085
6,218 5,729
112,327 97,687
120,605 106,501
18. Trade Receivables
2025 2024
FHxT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,957 5,969
Impairment losses, net - -
1,957 5,969

AEEFEMR A ERRKHEBEAEMFIELS FI0BE
OB ZEEH : MAETHERZFZEEHN T60HZE120
B ATARAREK  REZAHI2I 2BIKE SR

BZBRE DT

30BA
31E260H
61Z90H
91ZE120H
#120H
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Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 120 days
Over 120 days

The Group allows credit periods of 30 to 60 days for receivables from
department stores in which sales counters are located and credit periods
of 60 to 120 days for its wholesale customers. The following is an
ageing analysis of trade receivables presented based on the invoice date
at the end of the reporting period:

2025 2024
FTHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
1,579 5,136
290 530

- 278

88 25

1,957 5,969
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EWE S RIE(E
REEREMNEMFLBEZRH - SERAETP2BAER
Bt UFEEBEEREPZEERR  WAIEEFPZEE

HE AEBERAFELERIFANGZRPRHGEH
& UEHERE TR ZEERE °

18.

2025 & 20243 A31 0 - AEEWEEWE 5 HRER
REBDHEE - @I BB A KA BB IR BE
B MEELEHRRETRABEUEER  XAREERA
WEIZEBHAEEAS - AEB W ERZSHBIAE
A4 o

FEU B 55 30 TR e LA FE MR TR O R (B AT A = B U P 33 ©

19. BERBREEEEH 19. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2025 2024

FET FHT

HK$°000 HK$°000

N4 RIRT1TE Cash and bank balances 13,126 8,537
TR Pledged deposits 13,070 2,231
/et Subtotal 26,196 10,768
B AIRITRAS R IR (M1 a£29) Less: pledged for banking facilities (note 29) (13,070) (2,231)
HeESZEMHEIER Cash and cash equivalents 13,126 8,537

RAHFERR  AEBMUARB(TAREDFEZEE R
$RITAERR 51,279,000 7T (2024 4F : 594,000/ 7T) ° AR#E
THEEHABAHEMER - A - REBEFEAMZINEE
FHEPIREEAREERNEEERTE  A5EEEES
RIGETINER ZEBHBITHARE L BAHMEE -

BOEREREERF AV ETELNRLIRIRITA - K
B2 RITHE S RFFIRBTIRITF R EF E N F0.001%
£6.220% (20244 : 0.001%ZE4.750% )51 5 RETHIR A31E
AT °
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

18. Trade Receivables (Continued)

Before accepting any new wholesale customers, the Group assesses
the potential customers’ credit quality by investigating their historical
credit record and defines credit limits by customer. Credit sales are
made to customers with a satisfactory and trustworthy credit history.
Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly.

As at 31st March, 2025 and 2024, there are no trade receivables
which were past due as at the reporting date. The balances past due
for 90 days or more are not considered as in default. The directors of
the Company consider that the recoverability of these debts is high
based on historical experience and taking into consideration forward-
looking information. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Details of the impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 33.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and bank balances
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$1,279,000 (2024:
HK$594,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations of the PRC, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default. The Group’s bank balances and deposits
carry interest at prevailing bank deposit rates ranging from 0.001%
to 6.220% (2024: 0.001% to 4.750%) per annum and have an original
maturity of three months or less.
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Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 90 days
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20. Trade Payables

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of each reporting

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2025 2024
FTERT TET
HK$°000 HK$’000
7,231 16,401
12,269 10,267
2,946 3,016
1,109 936
23,555 30,620

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on

credit terms of 30 to 60 days.

21. Other Payables and Accruals

2025 2024

k2 FERT FHT

Notes HK$’000 HK$°000

Accrued expenses 24,289 27,368
Other payables (a) 3,745 3,509
Provision for reinstatement costs (b) 8,697 9,180
Contract liabilities (c) 1,656 5,533
Other taxes payable 96 111
38,483 45,701

Less: non-current portion

— Provision for reinstatement costs (2,369) (3,523)
Current portion 36,114 42,178
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B ZE2025F3 A31H IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
21, HiENAZERESERE 21. Other Payables and Accruals (Continued)
HieE - Notes:
(a) HEMNZIEATE r B2 ARERFIEI/AN (a) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and the amounts are
REEPEHE - repayable on demand or settled on a credit term within 1 month.
(b) AREBERKANEE 2 ZEMT (b) Movements in the Group’s provision for reinstatement costs are as
follows:
2025 2024
FExT FAT
HK$°000 HK$°000
F4) At the beginning of the year 9,180 10,067
E N B Provision during the year 205 680
ERBEKAR Actual costs paid (687) (1,567)
8,698 9,180

FR - RBRKAEE /205,0007 7T (20244 : 680,000 7C) B A During the year, provision for reinstatement costs of HK$205,000

IREFREEE - (2024: HK$680,000) has been recorded in right-of-use assets.
(©) BHBEZFBNT - (c) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:
20255 202445 20234
38318 3H31H 4818
31st March, 31st March, Ist April,
2025 2024 2023
FHxT FHAIT FHTT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BWEFE 2R Short-term advances received from customers
bR EE Retail sales of cosmetics 1,235 5,533 6,126
BEPAHEE Customer loyalty programme 421 - _
1,656 5,533 6,126
EHEEBERTE LRI EHA R » 20259 K% 20244F Contract liabilities include short-term advances received for the reservation
AHEBERVEEHRNFEREREF ZEHETRD - of cosmetics. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2025 and 2024 was

mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances received from customers
at the end of the year.
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BE2025F3A31HILFE

22. HiEE

REZFEMNERAEEF  REBRITEEFRE M %TE
RRR2027FEE (20244F : FR2025F E2026F HE) -

23. FTRZEBITEE

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

22. Other Borrowings

repayable in 2025 to 2026).

23. Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings

The loans from directors are unsecured, interest-bearing at Hong Kong
Inter-bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) +1% and repayable in 2027 (2024:

2025 2024
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
SRITEX Bank overdraft - 2,182
RITER Bank loans 166,647 337,827
EOER Import loans 11,448 50,445
178,095 390,454

BEFETEEBIRTIEE - The secured bank borrowings are repayable as follows:
2025 2024
FER FET
HK$°000 HK$’000

BIRREBHREE 2 AL Principal amounts repayable based on
original maturity terms*:

RENK On demand - 2,182
1R Within one year 171,988 382,561
F24F In the second year 3,127 1,738
EIERFESF(BRIEERMT) In the third to fifth years, inclusive 2,980 3,973
178,095 390,454
@ ZESHENI B DERGRAHEEREH - @ The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment dates set

Annual Report 2025

out in the loan agreements.
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE
23. FTEZERITEEE)
BENEESEA TN EEHE -

BT HK$
7T USD
AR RMB

AEBMZEBETNZBFNEREER  REREFNE(IFERETH
FIZE) T F2.90%2%7.09% (20245F : 3.85%%7.66%) 78 °

AEBMZERSEENRERZEI » ALK 2025F & 2024
F3A3 BRI AEREBDAE -

Rz B BowR 24 A A H - ANE B 2 RAEMBRTR
e

RITREAREEE T EERER(FHRE29)
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025
23. Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings (Continued)

The carrying amounts of borrowings are dominated in the following

currencies:

2025 2024
FERT THETT
HK$°000 HK$’000
174,962 390,309
- 145

3,133 -
178,095 390,454

The Group’s borrowings are floating-rate borrowings which carry
interest at effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted
interest rates) ranging from 2.90% to 7.09% (2024: 3.85% to 7.66%)
per annum.

The Group’s loans containing a repayment on demand clause hence
shown as current liabilities as at 31st March, 2025 and 2024.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Group did not
breach any bank covenants.

The bank borrowings are secured by certain assets of the Group (note
29).
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BE2025F3A31HILFE

24. BiE

RAFERBEFEAN  FIERZEEESHBEREE
T :

For the year ended 31st March, 2025
24. Provision

The following are the provision for onerous contracts recognised and
its movement during the current and prior years:

2025 2024

FTEx FHT

HK$°000 HK$’000

F9) At the beginning of the year 898 584
FRN (B FE (Reversed)/provided for the year (569) 314
FR At the end of the year 329 898

EREEANBBEDRERAEERTHSEREENEE
BHETEEREEBBHBEHMEME Ll MR
BRBRENTE 5 FHEUS 2 8 F &5 2 T Al 2K A PT
T ZFHEMEL - AREREAREENEHERREHR
ARAIEE & B 2 B B 1 T I S A G R X FT A
AEREHMHEEZZEERNENRRASRERER BT
BEERNPRBRTEERRBERLE -

EEUESABEDREASERYEARBEENMAR
BRENSEEHETHETUREHERRZINER
SMEBTERFR - WIEN T EF13.4%E13.8% (20244 :
13.9%E14.4%) ZRAIFT R EETHR - KHBERESRE
NEEBRIOEEERER - EFNERBTIHEHOHTA
BOERA - BHIRBEBATRAKEEEHMSEENTE
B REREBzEEBRAIEERMER - R2025F3A
318 - BEMA LEE A329,00075 7T (20244 : 898,000/
JT) °
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Provision for onerous contracts is made based on an assessment of
the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the lease
agreement, with short-term leases, that exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received under it from all underperforming retail
stores of the cosmetics and fashion businesses. In accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies, the Group reviews the discounted cash
flow forecasts of all of the retail stores with short-term leases under the
non-cancellable clause in the respective lease agreements to determine
whether there is any indication of underperforming of the retail stores.

The provision for onerous contracts is calculated based on discounted
cash flow forecasts of all of the Group’s underperforming retail stores
with short-term leases to the end of the non-cancellable lease period
and discounted with a pre-tax discount rate ranging from 13.4% to
13.8% (2024: 13.9% to 14.4%) per annum. Key assumptions used
when determining the discounted cash flow forecasts include revenue
growth, gross profit margins and unavoidable costs that will be
incurred during the remaining lease period. Amounts are determined
based on past performance and management’s expectations on the
market development, after taking into consideration revenue and
expenditure growth of the business. As at 31st March, 2025, the
provision for onerous contracts was HK$329,000 (2024: HK$898,000).
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B ZE2025F3 A31H IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
25. REEHIF 25. Deferred Tax
TXARNEERBAEEBRAZIBEREHE(ARK) & The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities)/assets recognised
EREEE) : and the movements thereon during the current and prior years:
HIRITE AT
ZERMEERE
Temporary
EfRYE difference
Revaluation from tax st
of properties depreciation Total
FHT FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
202354 A1H At 1st April, 2023 (17,635) 386 (17,249)
R NB Charged to profit or loss (1,050) (81) (1,131)
RIS Exchange realignment 624 - 624
P2024F3 A31H At 31st March, 2024
520244 1H and Ist April, 2024 (18,061) 305 (17,756)
i EEGEE]iN Charged to profit or loss 130 (81) 49
RE M2 EURA R Charged to other comprehensive income
(K1a£13) (note 13) (535) - (535)
HE N AR Exchange realignment 171 - 171
2025638318 At 31st March, 2025 (18,295) 224 (18,071)
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25. EEBIE(E)

WA T IR B RRLERIAEE

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

25. Deferred Tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

2025 2024

TER FHET

HK$°000 HK$°000

TIEEE Tax losses 824,400 741,010
AIREREERE Deductible temporary differences 1,810 1,810
826,210 742,820

A TE B 18 B IE A B A5 E A 19 808,595,00078 7T (2024 4F -
722,413,000/ 7T) + HAJERAASNA ¢ FOURFIEA#Y10,032,000
77T (20244 : 9,856,000/ 7T ) + EAFR3FAER : RN E
R EE A §Y5,773,00075 7T (2024 4F © 8,741,00087T) » E A1
B5ERER - AMREELBBZ R AR RERTEF) o
WS EIE B ERIEERAE - WY BR T AAIEE A
_HlTE B B EREDRF) o

BERBEMPEMSFE - RABEKY ZIINGRERERE
INEEESIRNRERAZMRI020TEINFR - BEEER
2008F 1 A1 B RBAR - WA MR2007F 12 318 2 &N &
F o fiw R B R 30 B2 G SR B ) AR AT A B IR
At = AREM AR E - RAEEm S - BAREAR
5% (20245 : 5%) » AL - ANEE AR A BB A 772008
F1A1RERRAFE S IR SBATEINF -

R2025F3 A31 8 - ANEE K BB A 5 89K 5K & F
AR R I = RE R R 9 R U R T A T FE A A IR RE
TR 18 B (545,554,00078 7T (20244 © 43,019,00078 7T) © RE
RADRAEFLENBARMNKRERE  YEREEH
M A RE B TE R RAS R A

Annual Report 2025

The above tax losses which included HK$808,595,000 (2024:
HK$722,413,000) arising in Hong Kong are available indefinitely;
HK$10,032,000 (2024: HK$9,856,000) arising in Macau will expire
in three years; and HK$5,773,000 (2024: HK$8,741,000) arising in
Mainland China that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above items can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is
effective from 1st January, 2008 and applies to earnings after 31st
December, 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if
there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% (2024:
5%). The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by the PRC subsidiaries in respect of their earnings
generated from 1st January, 2008.

At 31st March, 2025, the Group has not recognised deferred tax
liabilities of HK$45,554,000 (2024: HK$43,019,000) in respect
of temporary differences relating to the undistributed profits of
subsidiaries, that would be payable on the distribution of these
retained profits as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and determines that it is not probable that these profits will
be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

26. BRA 26. Share Capital
2025 2024
FER FHAT
HK$’000 HK$°000
ETE Authorised:
10,000,000,000(20244F : 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,000 (2024: 10,000,000,000)
R RR0.018TT 2 E iR ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 100,000 100,000
EEITRARE Issued and fully paid:
2,518,001,334(20244F : 2,518,001,334)  2,518,001,334 (2024: 2,518,001,334)
B &R%0.018TT2 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
TR 25,180 25,180
27. BRESS 27. Share Option Scheme
2023F B IR fE 5T &l 2023 Share Option Scheme

REANTR2023FIR1BRITZRFAFAS BB
TMRFEDR - ANA RN —IEERERT BI ([ 2023 F AR 4
FrEll) BERAERSHEREESUNEBEARRZE
D THB2EERRARNARIRERND ZEBEME
N BEARARERREERIE - ARAEES R
BFRASLABESUAEEFELHERMZ2BES - 2BE
B RAEMEMATHFEERSE2023FEARETE

R 52023 4 BB AR RE AT B 5 R 1 R ER AR 2 (AT L £ B AR =t
& RiTAEHZMARRENRTHRD A5G
HRBINERA B AR R BTN Z210% °

AARERERE T A EFIL10%R ] - EBXEFATE
BB IR E 2 B AR RIE TR M 210% °

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting
of the Company on 11th September, 2023, a share option scheme
(the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company for
the purpose of providing eligible participants with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and encouraging
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and
its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole. All directors, full-time employees and any other persons who,
in the sole discretion of the board of directors of the Company, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group are eligible to participate in
the 2023 Share Option Scheme.

Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the 2023 Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue on the date of adoption.

The Company may renew this 10% limit with shareholders’ approval
provided that each such renewal may not exceed 10% of the shares in
the Company in issue as at the date of the shareholders’ approval.
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27. WBREFTEI(E)

2023 F B RERTEI(E)

BRIEERIS AN A R AR AL E + B AITEEM 1218 A B A - 1R
12023 G BE AR A 5T B S AR A R BR 40 2 £F ] £ i B AR 48 5t
g ATfERS2aEMEL ZBRE(BIEETERMA
TEERE) MBETRETEITHNAATRNEE - TEB
BARRREEITRG 21% °

BREZTERRASHARAARFELEEE - ZBEITE
ERBAERH A BB 10FRER - N HBARER -
ARARAIEEEITEAATABREZRERR - HiHE
BEZZHANAZ 2 EEZLREZEL KM B BB
M21H A MRNEAERER A N UETT -

TEBRER S TERTIARRBROOREE  TNEER
THBEZE=E - ODRELNBEH - RNRAIRMD OB FTE
HZERRER2BOHUEHE : () RREL B HpIsERA
BARRB MR RN 288 RERZ KD FHED
B RGUHREHBPZARFROEE - ARARAEEEM
2HERHBERERETRREE -

ERM2023 F BRI B10BF 2 BB AR RN SRE
FTEIR BB RRAE -

REE2025F K2024F3A31 B IEFEA - AR RBERE
2023 F BERRME AT B[R AN A ) EE =% L BB ARAE -

Annual Report 2025

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

27. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2023 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number
of shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
the options granted to each participant (including both exercised and
unexercised options) under the 2023 Share Option Scheme or any other
share option scheme adopted by the Company in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue.

The period within which the options must be exercised will be
specified by the Company at the time of grant. This period must expire
no later than 10 years from the date of grant of the options. At the
time of grant of the options, the Company may specify a minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days
from the date on which the letter containing the offer is delivered to
that participant and the amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$1.

The subscription price for the shares of the Company to be issued
upon exercise of the options shall be no less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of offer;
(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of offer. The
subscription price will be established by the board of directors of the
Company at the time when the option is offered to the participants.

No options may be granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme after
the date of the tenth anniversary of the adoption of the scheme.

No options were granted to the directors of the Company for the
years ended 31st March, 2025 and 2024 under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme.
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27. WBIRRESTEI(AE)

2013 FBBRERTEI(E)

BIEANTR2013F8A30FRIT2RFAFAE LiBRZ
LERFHR - ANDAFRM—EERETE ([2013F B HE
el EEENAKRBESRAEREESLHESE M
Zat BB R2023 68 A308 Eim o BEEE— P REREHIRE
2013 FEARIERTEI T AR -

TREBEAEE RS FFARBE0B3FERETEREZ
FBRERFIE RSB B -

REZE2025F3A31HIEFER :
RHAH TEEES
Date of grant Vesting period
202E 17297 MIEIAYEE

29th January, 2021

201%1A29A
29th January, 2021

20027168
16th February, 2022

20027168
16th February, 2022

RELTHE

Exercisable at the end of the year

METEIER

Weighted average exercise price

colourmix &

200451 A28H
29th January, 2021 to
28th January, 2024

MMIEIAVEE
2026F1A28H
29th January, 2021 to

28th January, 2026

NEIRI6HE
2005F2A15H
16th February, 2022 to

15th February, 2025

ANEIRI6EE
200715248158
16th February, 2022 to

15th February, 2027

TR

Exercise period

NUEIAVEE
2026F1A28A
29th January, 2024 to

28th January, 2026

206%E1AEZ
2008F1 A28

29th January, 2026 to
28th January, 2028

20055271662
200527158
16th February, 2025 to

15th February, 2027

07F2R16HE
200928158

16th February, 2027 to
15th February, 2029

MORIMOR O

For the year ended 31st March, 2025
27. Share Option Scheme (Continued)
2013 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting
of the Company on 30th August, 2013, a share option scheme (the
“2013 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company for the
primary purpose of providing incentives to, among other participants,
directors and eligible employees and expired on 30th August, 2023.
No further share options would be granted under 2013 Share Option
Scheme.

The following tables disclose details of options granted under the 2013
Share Option Scheme held by employees of the Group and movements

in such holdings.

During the year ended 31st March, 2025:

IIES REER REER REER sk

i 4A1H i X i 3R31A

SRTEE k3 Granted Lapsed Cancelled WAL

Exercise price Balance at during during during  Outstanding at

pershare  Ist April, 2024 the year the year the year  31st March, 2025

0.053437T 16,800,000 - (1,900,000) (350,000) 14,550,000
HK$0.0534

0.0534E7 16,450,000 - (1,900,000) - 14,550,000
HK$0.0534

0.05067 5,150,000 - (1,400,000) - 3,750,000
HK$0.0506

0.05067 5,150,000 - (1,400,000) - 3,750,000
HK$0.0506

43,550,000 - (6,600,000) (350,000) 36,600,000

18,300,000

0.0527 - 0.0522 0.0534 0.0528
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HZE2025F3A31 R IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025

27. BRESTEI(E) 27.
2013 F IR ERTEI(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)
2013 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

REE2024F3831BIEFER :

During the year ended 31st March, 2024:

R2023% REER REER REER RUUE
) 4518 At &3 Y T
e i SRR i Granted Lapsed Cancelled HARTE
REA% TEmEES TEHE Exercise price Balance at during during during ~ Outstanding at
Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period per share 1t April, 2023 the year the year the year  31st March, 2024
WITF1AIA NITEI9RZE N0EIAIAZE 0183287 2,500,000 = (2,500,000 - -
Oth January, 2017 N0E1A8A N4E1A8A HKS0.1832
9th January, 2017 to 9th January, 2022 to
8th January, 2022 8th January, 2024
WIEIAMA MIFIAYAZE NHEIAYAZE 0.053%ET 16,800,000 = = - 16800000
29th January, 2021 N451A288 2026515288 HKS$0.0534
29th January, 2021 to 29th January, 2024 to
28th January, 2024 28th January, 2026
2021F1A298 MUEIRVAE 226E1R9HE 0053437 16,800,000 - - (350,000) 16,450,000
29th January, 2021 202651 A28H 202851 A28H HKS0.0534
29th January, 2021 to 29th January, 2026 to
28th January, 2026 28th January, 2028
N052R16R WNF2A16RZ N552R16HZ 00506572 5,150,000 - - - 5,150,000
16th February, 2022 2005%2A15H 200728 15H HKS$0.0506
16th February, 2022 to 16th February, 2025 to
15th February, 2025 15th February, 2027
N0E24168 WNF2A16RZ WE2A16RZ 00506572 5,150,000 - - - 5,150,000
16th February, 2022 2027528158 202928 15H HKS0.0506
16th February, 2022 to 16th February, 2027 to
15th February, 2027 15th February, 2029
46,400,000 - (2,500,000) (350,000) 43,550,000
ARERTTR
Exercisable at the end of the year 16,800,000
HEPHEE
Weighted average exercise price 0.0598 - 0.1832 0.0534 0.0527
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE
BRESTE(E)

2013 FBBRERTEI(E)

HE2025F3A3BIEFEAN - WHEBEREREITE (2024
F o 4m) o

27.

AEBERAREE2025F3 A3 A EFEHRAQRARHZ
TER A B RE G R 2 425 X 580,000 7T (2024 F -
155,000/ 7T) °

HE2025F3A31 B IEFERRBEEXEMBME AR
B WAEREARE D RN o

RATREHR - 225 2£536,600,000(20244F : 43,550,000)
P2013F FEARIE ST BT RART TR BEARE - IRBADEE AT
BB ANZERE - BEUTE M ARITE 2 BRER S AR RIREINE
736,600,000 (2024 £ : 43,550,000 ) A% 3 38 A% 366,000 7T
(20244 : 435,500/ 7T ) K9 P& AN LA 121,567,00078 7T (2024 FF -
1,861,000/ 70 ) BIRR (2 @ (B CRINBREITER) ©

RZET A 2 $fE B - AR R H£536,600,000192013
FREREEI T MARTTENERE (5N ARKRZBEE T
F& 1% 491.5% °

REE2025%F 202453 A31 B IEFER © ANARIBEERE
2013F BERRHE T B[R AN A ) ZE =2 45 (L P AR A ©

colourmMixey MORIMOR O

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

27. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2013 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

No share options were exercised during the year ended 31st March,
2025 (2024: nil).

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$80,000 for the year
ended 31st March, 2025 (2024: HK$155,000) in relation to the vesting
of share options granted by the Company.

Subsequent to the year ended 31st March, 2025 and up to the date of
approval of these financial statements, no share options were lapsed.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 36,600,000
(2024: 43,550,000) share options outstanding under the 2013 Share
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 36,600,000 (2024: 43,550,000) additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$366,000
(2024: HK$435,500) and share premium of HK$1,567,000 (2024:
HK$1,861,000) (before issuing expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had
36,600,000 share options outstanding under the 2013 Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 1.5% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

No options were granted to the directors of the Company for the
years ended 31st March, 2025 and 2024 under the 2013 Share Option
Scheme.
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28. HMEBEREBRZME

(@ TEFRETXH

RAFERN - AEERTE/EH (20245 « TEIERHRTE)
R A ERRTREAEREEAB LHEEIM
E AW TS B A60,822,00058 7T (2024 4F : 149,427,00078
7T) £2.59,439,00078 7T (20244F : 141,222,000/ 7T) °

(b) BEXBELENREED

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

28. Notes To The Consolidated Statement Of Cash
Flows

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions including
adjustments arising from lease modification to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of HK$60,822,000 (2024: HK$149,427,000) and
HK$59,439,000 (2024: HK$141,222,000), respectively, in respect of
retail stores (2024: retail stores and motor vehicles).

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

R2023F4A1H
MEBSRFE
BEINM#HAE BEINEE
Fl B A%

NRBREXBRSRNEHFE

IE

7202483 A31H K2024F4A1H
RERSHFER

BRIV MHEE BEITNHEE
FERZ

PRBEEEBRSROENFE

720253 A31H

Annual Report 2025

activities
HitfE & FEZBITEE HEAE
Other Interest-bearing

borrowings bank borrowings  Lease liabilities

FERT FTHERT FTET

HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000

At 1st April, 2023 13,790 383,818 91,069
Financing cash flows, net 23,660 6,636 (93,643)
New leases entered/leases modified - - 141,222
Interest expenses - - 7,778
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows - - (7,778)
Exchange realignment - - (37)
At 31st March, 2024 and 1st April, 2024 37,450 390,454 138,611
Financing cash flows, net 331,650 (212,359) (96,001)
New leases entered/leases modified - - 59,439
Interest expenses - - 8,111
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows - - (8,111)
Exchange realignment - - (47)
At 31st March, 2025 369,100 178,095 102,002
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B ZE2025F3 A31H IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
28. WEBERERZMEFE(E) 28. Notes To The Consolidated Statement Of Cash
Flows (Continued)
(c0 HERESHRHLHEE (c) Total cash outflow for leases
2025 2024
FET FHT
HK$’°000 HK$’000
KBTS Within operating activities 16,660 21,071
B A Within financing activities 96,001 93,643
112,661 114,714
29. EBEEH 29. Pledge of Assets

RARERR AEEEETFTETRIUESETAER At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged by
M —RIRITIRENEENT ¢ the Group to certain banks to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group:

2025 2024

Hat FER FHT

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

LEME Investment properties 13 454,218 552,651
HELH RGBT Leasehold land and buildings 14 5,181 12,766
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15(a) 537 2,362
EIRFEK Pledged deposits 19 13,070 2,231
473,006 570,010
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30, BAEARS

(2) BRTIZEFBERELMBIFLZRS - AEER
REZIEANERRB T 25

For the year ended 31st March, 2025
30. Related Party Transactions

(2) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions
with related parties during the year:

2025 2024
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$°000

REME Nature of transactions
EASHBEE 2 Expenses relating to short-term leases* 1,800 1,800
HTFEEFHFE Interest paid to directors 16,065 1,110
2 ZERBAARR NI TEFEE L E ] - & The entity is controlled by Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny, an

b)) FTEEEABZHE
RAEER EEREMISEWAS HMOT -

executive director of the Company.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management
during the year was as follows:

2025 2024

FET FHBIT

HK$’°000 HK$’000

BRI Short-term benefits 4,521 5,362
EREEH Post-employment benefits 106 121
VARR 19 A E T 2 (B 1S Share-based payments 39 47
4,666 5,530

EERTEERABZEMKBZHM I BHFNEZE SR
FERKRRRMSBEMAEES IR LES -

Annual Report 2025

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management
is recommended to the board of directors by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE
RERETHERTIA
RMERR - FEEMTAZREENAT ¢

31.

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

31.

Financial Instruments by Category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2025 2024
FET FHT
HK$’000 HKS$’000
IR AT B SR B E Financial assets at amortised cost

BRHe RKEEZRE Rental and utility deposits paid 34,846 39,273
FEWE 538 Trade receivables 1,957 5,969
H A eI R IE Other receivables 783 752
WHFRK Pledged deposits 13,070 2,231
HeRHREEEER Cash and cash equivalents 13,126 8,537
63,782 56,762

B KA E B B Financial liabilities at amortised cost
JERTE 5 I8 Trade payables 23,555 30,620
H AT B K fEET B Other payables and accruals 12,474 15,781
BEkEeZe Rental deposits received 2,730 2,515
EZRITEE Interest-bearing bank borrowings 178,095 390,454
HibfEE Other borrowings 369,100 37,450
HEAE Lease liabilities 102,002 138,611
687,956 615,431
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32. EMIEQAFEERAFEEER

EREMGERERASETMERE - ERFHR  BRESK
B ENEZHIE ENHESRKERSEES - A
AR - BN FIBERESER  CRESREUR
SEZRITIERZAFEERAREERS  T2ANZ
STATREHREE -

Efflske  ChHEREREMEBERDELHA
FEEEFRABALUER - EERBRKH TR Z A0
AT AFENRFBEHRARRIBSREFH - N2025F3 A31
B BASEAsmEMEETBLORRMERNAFE

AEBEAMBRERENYBHMEEEESRTARY
EEFENBREREF  HMBAEERRNESTEREBRE
BemE - NERSEY  MBHALIMeRTANERE
HPHVETHEMERNIZZ2H - HEAEFSERL
HE - HEBERGREERZESEFIHRMAAET
RN EEPBIRE o

REEMBENQFEERART ZMNENRZS R
FEEHERIPARIBT AN SRR - At AFEE
REFRAATERER

R2025F 202453 A31 8  AEEY BT AIEAFEERT
BSRMEERARE RNEAN  cREERSHEBERIE
HEIEZHTERNTFEENEEYR  TEEARELE]
B (20244 : #&) ©
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

32. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of

Financial Instruments

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, current portion of
rental and utility deposits paid, other receivables, other payables and
accruals, rental deposits received and interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term

maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of non-current portion of rental deposits paid, rental
deposits received and other borrowings have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own
non-performance risk for other borrowings as at 31st March, 2025 were
assessed to be insignificant.

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The chief financial officer
reports directly to the board of directors and the audit committee. At
each reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the board of directors. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial
reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The Group did not have any financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31st March, 2025 and 2024. During the year, there were
no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level
2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
financial liabilities (2024: nil).
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables, other
receivables, rental and utility deposits paid, cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, trade payables, other payables and accruals, rental
deposits received, interest-bearing bank borrowings, other borrowings
and lease liabilities.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include market
risk (represented by interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the short-term bank balances and deposits (note
19), interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 23) and other borrowings
(note 22) with floating interest rates. It is the Group’s policy to keep
its borrowings at floating interest rates so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk. The exposure to the interest rate risk for short-term
bank balances is insignificant.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of HIBOR and Secured Overnight Financing Rate
arising from the Group’s bank loans. The Group currently does not
have any interest rate hedging policy in relation to fair value and cash
flow interest rate risks. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates of bank and other loans. The analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2024: 50)
basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If interest rates had
been 50 (2024: 50) basis point higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended
31st March, 2025 would increase/decrease by HK$2,285,000 (2024:
HK$1,786,000).

2025 F 4R
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33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from interest-bearing bank borrowings and purchases by
operating units in currencies other than the units’ functional
currencies. In addition, group entities are exposed to foreign currency
risk attributable to intra-group receivables and payables where the
denomination of the receivables and payables is in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management closely monitors the foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

The Group’s currency risk is mainly attributable to the exposure to
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings, other borrowings and
intra-group receivables and payables denominated in RMB, HK$ and
USD. The carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

BE =R

Assets Liabilities
2025 2024 2025 2024
FHExT T FHExT T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
74 7 149 _
80,844 40,941 7,836 6,965
5,687 1,906 - 145

Sensitivity analysis
As HKS$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not expect any significant

movements in the USD/HKS$ exchange rate. In this regard, the Group
does not expose to significant currency risk arising from USD.
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33. BiEREEEERBE(E) 33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

ShEEE B (4E) Foreign currency risk (Continued)
YR ESHT(4E) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

TRENEMBEMEHARBERTE ZIBRAT - KA The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
EHIR  REEKRBEENBiES AR EBTER reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB and HK$
HWEEREEH  HURE  ZEE2EHTARANEEBRITE exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
RSN E ¥ TE B DA RS B PRI K B 3R IE (A 5 . profit/loss after tax due to changes in the fair values of the Group’s
WK FER FOR IE AR E B AR 2 e B &£ E ) 2 AF outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items, intra-group

BEZBAT - receivables and payables where the denomination of the receivables
and payables is in currencies other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities.

B TE R BB ER
EH(TH) i, Cid)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
HKS$ rate loss after tax
Aokt FAT
% HK$°000
2025F 2025
BT AREEE If the Hong Kong dollar weakens
against the RMB 5) 3,045)
BT AREAE If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens
against the RMB 5 3,045
78 JoBE R MBI EER
EFCFEE) i CRd)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
HKS rate loss after tax
Btk FHT
% HK$°000
20244 2024
ST ARERE If the Hong Kong dollar weakens
against the RMB 5) (1,419)
BT H AREAE If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens
against the RMB 5 1,419
167
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33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)
Credit Risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to the failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties arises from the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its

financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets under
the ECL model. Information about the Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related impairment assessment,
if applicable, is summarised below:

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for the determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that a
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables individually for debtors. The estimated loss rates are
estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected
lives of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information,
including but not limited to the expected growth rate of the industry
that is available without undue cost or effort. In this regard, the
directors o the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical location is
mainly in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

The credit risks on bank balances and deposits are limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. Other than the concentration of
credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several banks with
good reputation and high credit ratings, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over
a number of counterparties and customers.
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33. HBRAREEEERBK(E) 33.

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

FERR(E)

AEBERSEMEEFIE ENESRKERS - |RITHE
R REE B AR B YA TR R EREIR N - W AER
AEEHBBENTEORROE - ZR2EARRE
EEREFHEMEREERE -

Credit Risk (Continued)

The Group has considered that credit risk on other receivables, rental
and utility deposits paid, bank balances and deposits has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and has assessed the ECL rate
under the 12-month (“12m”) ECL method based on the Group’s
assessment in the risk of default of the respective counterparties.

AEE 2z AR EE R SRS RE A TER -

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

bl i g EWE 5 HE HttemEE
Category Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
ity HHFHRORREE - B3 EEFEEARE T HTRMEEEE - 1218 AEHEE &R
I EEERE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
BRAE B AREERBHRSHEN EHEREEER - 1218 AFEREEEER
I EEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after the due dates but Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
usually settles in full after the due dates not credit-impaired
2+ EERRASEBNIELNENSINIE R 2HEHEEEE - 2 HIFEEAE BB 1R —
FRAEA MBI N BiEERE EfEERE
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
&8 BEBBREECEERE T HTEHEEEE - EHEHEEEE -
BEEERE BEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
8K BRBEANEBARNRIRM NS - BARKEY  FKASME IR E M
EE R E RO AT BE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has

no realistic prospect of recovery
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TR AEEEREEMAR EERRFE  ZEA
BRAETIREMEEEIRRTME

SHBISETR
#fit  External
Notes  credit rating
[N E 5 500A 18 TiEHA
Trade receivables N/A
H fth YR IE 16 TiEHA
Other receivables N/A
EREH 19 A3ZEAL
Pledged deposits Aa3 to Al
Re kB eEEER 19 A3ZEAL
Cash and cash equivalents Aa3 to Al
BRHE kKBRS TiEHA
Rental and utility deposits paid N/A

et -

i

Annual Report 2025

REWESRIEMNS ' ARERBELYEREER
FoORMb A AR MBHREEFIETEEHEREME - K
SERBENIGEECHRKE ZRENEHEEE
8 o M2025F3A31H - AEERAREWE 5 FKIEH
TEHEEEBNRERT (2024F : T) -

RABEERREEMNS AN EERRBVHEER
AR AR EF - AKEE EREEM KRS %R
B —MAE - LI2EAFEHEEE BT EEER
e AEEFERTMBARETHEMBKRAE  Re
FESEEEE  #HERATIUREMNASRKERS
HIBHEEEIE - 5220254 M2024%3 A31 8 IE5E
B ERZELEHNEE BAEEREREOTH
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

33.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

REAR 2025%F 20245

W EE TR EHRMEEER HREAE fREAE

2025 2024

Internal 12m or Gross carrying  Gross carrying

credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount

TR TR

HK$°000 HK$°000

Bisri FHEREEERE - 1,957 5,969
W EEERE
Note i Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

i REABRBEEERE 783 752
Note ii 12m ECL

i REABRBEEER 13,070 2,231
Note ii 12m ECL

i REABRBEEER 13,126 8,537
Note ii 12m ECL

Birii REREHREEER 34,846 39,273
Note ii 12m ECL

Notes:

i.

ii.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL for trade receivables based on
individual assessment. As at 31st March, 2025, the Group considers
that the allowance for ECL for trade receivables is nil (2024: nil).

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group
has applied the general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at 12m ECL as there is no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. The Group determines the ECL for
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits,
and rental and utility deposits paid by assessment of probability
of default. During the years ended 31st March, 2025 and 2024, in
view of the nature of these balances, historical settlement records
and good reputations of the counterparties, the Group considers the
provision for impairment losses for other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, and rental and utility deposits paid is
insignificant.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit
risk for trade receivables which are assessed individually as at 31st
March, 2025 within lifetime ECL. Credit-impaired debtors with a gross
carrying amount of nil as at 31st March, 2025 (2024: nil) were assessed

individually.
FREAE Gross carrying amount

FHEEE EWE S RE
Average Trade
72025%3H31H At 31st March, 2025 loss rate receivables
FERT
HK$°000

AEMEETH Internal credit rating
ERR Low risk # 1,957
BRRE Watch list # -
5t Doubtful 100 % -
1,957
T EE = FEWE 5 IR
Average Trade
202438318 At 31st March, 2024 loss rate receivables
FHET
HK$°000

R EB 1S E TR Internal credit rating
(a9 Low risk # 5,969
BRAE Watch list # _
£5 Doubtful 100% =
5,969

# BALELR0.1%

# The percentage was lower than 0.1%
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For the year ended 31st March, 2025

33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the trade receivables
within low risk and watch list at the end of the reporting period which
have been past due over 90 days are not considered as in default by
considering the expected subsequent and historical repayment from
trade debtors.

For the years ended 31st March, 2025 and 2024, the Group performed
impairment assessment on financial assets other than trade receivables
and concluded that the probability of default of the counterparty is
insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for ECL is provided.

The following table shows the movements in lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired) that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

simplified approach.

2025 2024

FHERT FET

HK$°000 HK$°000

F4) At the beginning of the year - 3,818
B 2 [B]# Reversal of impairment - (3,381)
bE A Exchange realignment - (437)
FH At the end of the year - -
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390,454,000/5 7T )
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RAFE  ARRAEFALAEE -R2EHE R RIRER
= /3375,000,000 8 TTH) EFE(E - IR AKBAELERE
BRRETNEEERAREEREBMNRITREER AR
DIEEMBZH -

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation
of secured bank borrowings (note 23) to ensure unutilised banking
facilities are adequate and ensure compliance with loan covenants
or to obtain waiver from the relevant banks if the Group is not able
to satisfy any of the covenant requirements. When there is any
potential breach of undertaking or financial covenants, the Group will
actively negotiate with the bank to obtain a waiver for the relevant
undertaking or financial covenants to avoid the bank from requesting
for immediate repayment of any outstanding bank borrowings drawn
under the facility, such that the facility and bank borrowings will
continue to be available to the Group. As at 31st March, 2025, the
Group has unutilised banking facilities of HK$61,142,000 (2024:
HK$45,983,000) including HK$17,585,000 (2024: $17,825,000)
unutilised bank guarantee facilities available.

During the year ended 31st March, 2025, the Group incurred a net
loss of HK$124,767,000 from operations and as at 31st March,
2025, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$120,964,000 (2024: HK$387,756,000). In addition, the Group had
cash and cash equivalents of HK$13,126,000 (2024: HK$8,537,000)
with total bank borrowings due within one year or contain a
repayable on demand clause amounting to HK$178,095,000 (2024:
HK$390,454,000).

The Group successfully renewed the banking facilities that were
due during the year. The directors of the Company have evaluated
the Group’s current undrawn banking facilities and renewable bank
borrowings and management maintains continuous communication
with the Group’s principal banks on the ongoing loan covenant
compliance, monitoring the maturity of bank borrowings as well as
the increase of banking facilities or redemption of existing debt. The
shareholders of the Company will provide continuous financial support
to the Group to meet their liabilities as and when they fall due.

During the year, the directors of the Company provided loan facilities
of up to HK$375,000,000 to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group to
provide working capital for the normal course of business of the Group
and to repay the loans under the Group’s banking facilities so as to
reduce loan interest.
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33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The directors of the Company have evaluated all the relevant facts
available and reviewed the Group’s bank loans and banking facilities
available to the Group. In opinion of the directors of the Company that
the bank loans and banking facilities would be renewed when their
current terms expire. Up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the directors of the Company are not aware of
any intention of the Group’s principal banks to withdraw their banking
facilities granted or request early repayment of the utilised facilities
within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

Despite the uncertainties mentioned in note 2.1, the directors of
the Company consider that, after taking into account the cash and
cash equivalents, existing banking facilities, loan facilities from
the directors of the Company and cash flows to be generated from
operations, the Group will have sufficient funds to meet its financial
obligations for at least the next twelve months from the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements.

The following tables detail the Group’s contractual maturity for its
non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank borrowings containing a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity
dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from the interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
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HZE2025F3A31HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
33. BiEREEEERBE(E) 33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

REBESRAR(E) Liquidity risk (Continued)
20255
RERS AFRRE 3A31R
T GH = PRIF REAR ZEEE
Weighted  On demand Total Carrying
average or less than 1F22F 26 Z5% undiscounted amount
interest rate lyear 1to2years 2to5years  cashflows at31.3.2025
BAl TER FER TR T TER

% HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000

20255 2025

FERE 5308 R e 2R Trade and other payables - 38,759 - - 38,759 38,759

HRZBITEE Interest-bearing bank borrowings
—28 - variable rate 5.79 180,071 - - 180,071 178,095
HipfEE Other borrowings 4.73 - 395,581 - 395,581 369,100
HEaRE Lease liabilities 6.60 68,806 34,499 7,649 110,954 102,002
287,636 430,080 7,649 725,365 687,956
20245
RERH AMRRE 38318
BT = Nt MEEE ZEAE
Weighted ~ On demand Total Carrying
average o less than 1E526 2% Z5% undiscounted amount
interest rate lyear 1to2years 2toS5years  cashflows at31.3.2024
B THET TET TET TET TET
% HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000

2024 2024

EREZHBEREMEMNFE  Trade and other payables = 48,916 = = 48,916 48,916

HFEVRTEE Interest-bearing bank borrowings
—%8 — variable rate 6.64 416,380 - - 416,380 390,454
HifEE Other borrowings 5.80 - 40,950 - 40,950 37,450
HEARE Lease liabilities 6.32 83,036 63,228 3,507 149,771 138,611
548,332 104,178 3,507 656,017 615,431
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BZE2025F3A3181EFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025

33. BEREEBERBE(E) 33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

nEBESEKE) Liquidity risk (Continued)

REFZBBHB AR AEBERERERIER ZRITE Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in

BTSN THRERE DR UE R | 2R ERA » 1202553 431 the “on demand or less than 1 month” time band in the above maturity

H  ZFRITEE 2 &5 REER178,095,0007% 7T (2024 analysis. As at 31st March, 2025, the aggregate carrying amounts

F 1 390,454,00078 70 ) © Z BRI ARNEB 2 H AR - KA of these bank borrowings amounted to HK$178,095,000 (2024:

AEZEETHERITETEERISRERABER - EF4E HK$390,454,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial position,

& AERTEEHRBEERGREI 2 HEEREHR the directors of the Company do not believe that it is probable that the

WMEHARZBAF (20245F  4F)NEE @ FBHINNRTE : banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors believe that such bank borrowings will
be repaid within four years (2024: four years) after the end of the
reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table
below:

HEASK -MEARERERR LB RE(RERERAHES)

Maturity analysis - Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause hased on scheduled repayments

REXY RRRE

SRR ottt
On demand or MREIE SENE Total HEfE
less than 1Z3f8R 3 months 122F 225 Morethan  undiscounted Carrying
Tmonth  1to3 months tolyear  1to2years  2toSyears Syears  cash outflow amount

ThRL o TR TR TARL THRL ThRL THT
HKS000  HKS'000  HKSO000  HKS000  HK§'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000

202553 831R As at 31st March, 2025 163911 5,198 3831 3402 3,629 - 180,071 178,095

R2024E3A318 As at 31st March, 2024 386,872 4,258 19,160 1853 437 - 416,380 390,454
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE

33. BEREEEERBE(E)

BEXREE
AEBEEREEARURRAEE 2 BRBEEMAFELE
WiEBBICEB R ESERRIREREAER - BBE
FE  AREZBERBHESTE -

AEBZBEARBEREFEY - LBERMFE3HE 25
BRBAEE HRReRReFERE REAREBE
mFEA ARG ERD  EERERTRAREE -

ARREFERNEHERRE - FERUEMZ IR EF
EZRAEAKRAREZERERBBZ AR - AEBSRE
EE7EREBERFEZRITEENIHBER N KIRT
RASHYIE A T ET 2R B8 B AR IE4E o

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings disclosed in note 23, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through monitoring the maturity of interest-bearing
bank borrowings as well as the increase of banking facilities.

colourmixes MoriMor O  VPCK)  Wanko
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HZE2025F3A31 R IEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2025
34. FARMBMRREK 34. Statement of Financial Position of the Company
2025 2024
FBT FAET
HK$’000 HK$°000
RBEE Non-current Assets
NN Interests in subsidiaries 53,631 53,631
REBEE Current Assets
o Ath pE W R TE Other receivables 336 348
N = INEIVSEN Due from subsidiaries 248,387 299,933
IRITHEBRIA S Bank balances and cash 106 43
248,829 300,324
REBAE Current Liabilities
H A &< FRIE Other payables 843 842
KRETB AR Z KB Due to subsidiaries 222,340 222,381
223,183 223,223
REBEETE Net Current Assets 25,646 77,101
BEEFE Net Assets 79,277 130,732
R Equity
f& s Share capital 25,180 25,180
(M at) Reserves (note) 54,097 105,552
oy Total Equity 79,277 130,732
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HE2025F3A31HIEFE

34. EATHBRREK(E) 34.
B - Note:
202354418 At Ist April, 2023

TEEEREREZEEE

REREE AR AER
ZER

BEXRBZBRE

ERKRE

R202463A31H
%2024F4A1H
AEEFRREZEER

REREE AR AERE
ZER

B BRE
BERBZ BRE

M2025%3A31H

35. kEmEH

ETHRSHECEINAFEARFEN2IIMEE

36. #HBEBBEHRRE

BE S0 MN202556A27 Bt MR EZE AR ISHRE -

colourmMixey MORIMOR O

For the year ended 31st March, 2025

Loss and total comprehensive loss for
the year

Recognition of equity-settled share-based
payments

Share options lapsed

Dividend paid

At 31st March, 2024 and
Ist April, 2024

Loss and total comprehensive loss for
the year

Recognition of equity-settled share-based
payments

Share options cancelled

Share options lapsed

At 31st March, 2025

55

the current year’s presentation and disclosures.

36.

Statement of Financial Position of the Company

(Continued)
R EE BARS BRERE 2BER i
Share
Share Contributed option Accumulated

premium surplus reserve losses Total
THET THET TET FHET FHL
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
223,654 53,135 453 (156,449) 120,793
- - - (2,803) (2,303)

- - 155 - 155
= = @) - ®)
(12,590) - - - (12,590)
211,064 53,135 605 (159,252) 105,552
- - - (51,457) (51,457)

- - 80 - 80
- - @ - @
- - (74) - (74)
211,064 53,135 607 (210,709) 54,097

Comparative Amounts

board of directors on 27th June, 2025.

Veeko  wanko

Approval of the Financial Statements

Certain comparative amounts have been re-presented to conform with

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
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Financial Summary B i #H =

& RESULTS
HZE3A3ALEE
Year ended 31st March,
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
FHET FHT FHT THT FTER

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000

20 REVENUE 517,246 499,849 472,625 586,710 481,484
BRBLAT(B5R) 8T (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (179,319) (52,431) 6,109 (38,411) (123,993)
FEHBEXL INCOME TAX EXPENSE (5,563) (935) (1,082) (1,632) (774)
EE ()8R (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (184,882) (53,366) 5,027 (40,043) (124,767)
EEHES ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
M3A31H
At 31st March,
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
FHT T T T FHR

HK$°000 HKS$000 HK$°000 HKS$000 HK$°000

EEEE TOTAL ASSETS 812,025 759,450 772,588 867,600 811,953
SERE TOTAL LIABILITIES (615,609) (560,039) (572,378) (664,279) (732,676)
RRES SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS 196,416 199,411 200,210 203,321 79,277
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VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Bl & B [E =B B R 2 7

10/F., Wyler Centre Phase II, 192-200 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, N.T., Hong Kong. &3 5 3% @A EHEE 192-20058 & &0 — Bi+18
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